CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE

I.S.B.N.

THESES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE



National Library of Canada Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'univer sité nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS RECUE



Mational Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Division

Division des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

64014

Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylograp	hier **
Full Name of Author — Nom complet de l'auteur	
Sally Rosemary Barros	
Date of Birth — Date de naissance	Country of Birth - Lieu de naissance
December 04, 1983.	England
Permanent Address — Résidence fixe	
12004 - 43 Avenue, Edinor	ton, Alberta 765 049
Title of Thesis Titre de la thèse	
Integrating Handicap Preschants: Examini	ped Children in Alberta ng the Dineusians
University — Université Luwersity — Alk Degree for which thesis was presented — Grade pour lequel cette	serta
	thèse fut présentée pecial le du cabien, Dept. of Educ Rych- Name of Supervisor — Nom du directeur de thèse legy
Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade	Name of Supervisor — Nom du directeur de thèse
. 1983	Dr G.M. Kysela.
Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film	L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ- QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.
The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or other wise reproduced without the author's written permission	L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.
and the second of the second o	
April 25, 1983	Signature Sarros.

NL-91 (4/77)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Integrating Handicapped Children in Alberta Preschools:

Examining the Dimensions

i by

Sally R. Barros

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH
IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF Doctor of Philosophy

IN

Special Education

Department of Educational Psychology

EDMONTON, ALBERTA
Spring 1983

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR

Sally R. Barros

TITLE OF THESIS

Integrating Handicapped Children in

Alberta Preschools: Examining the

Dimensions

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED Doctor of Philosophy YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED Spring 1983

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED)

July to Parios

PERMANENT ADDRESS

12004 - 43 Avenue. Edmonton, Alberta

DATED . April 18 ... 19 83

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled Integrating Handicapped Children in Alberta Preschools: Examining the Dimensions submitted by Sally R. Barros in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Supervisor

Marylans

James ..

Frey & y

External Examiner

Date. April 18, 1983

Abstract:

A formative evaluation approach was used to examine the crucial dimensions of integrating handicapped children in Alberta preschools.

A survey of present research efforts in this area assisted in the identification of relevant dimensions of integration. Basically three types of research issues have been addressed: What is the nature of the interaction between handicapped and non-handicapped children? What is the attitudinal impact of integration on the non-handicapped children? What are the programmatic features that maximize a positive integration experience?

The present study examined these three dimensions in integrated kindergarten and day care settings. In addition, important descriptive information was collected on the nature of the handicapped children and their families. The following types of information were collected: normative and criterion referenced assessments on the handicapped children, behavioral observations of the interaction between the handicapped and non-handicapped children, attitudinal data from the non-handicapped children, and information regarding important programmatic features such as staff training, individual program preparation, and parental involvement.

The information collected was analyzed using a number of different techniques (statistical and non-statistical).

Essentially, the data revealed that, demographically, the handicapped children and their families come from all aspects of the socio-economic spectrum. Many families experienced difficulties in the early identification and diagnosis of their child's difficulties, but they were generally satisfied with their child's placement in an integrated program. ECS staff felt positively toward integration, but poorly prepared. Major differences existed between urban and rural ECS programs in the use of aides.

Day Care staff also felt positively towards integration but more adequately prepared than ECS staff. Day Care staff, however, were more likely to use outside agencies in program preparation for the handicapped child.

The normative assessments (The McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities) indicated that as a group these children exhibited mild to moderate delays in general cognitive, memory and motor development. There were, however, a significantly greater number of lower functioning children in day care than ECS, and in rural ECS than urban ECS.

The criterion referenced assessments provided more specific information on these children's deficiency areas. Two major deficiency areas emerged: the pre-academic area and the advanced motor skill area.

The relationships between children's behavioral patterns and play activities were analyzed using a Pearson product moment correlation. Salient demographic variables

ν

were also included. The primary mode of interaction for this group of handicapped children was verbal. Higher functioning children, however, displayed significantly more cooperative play and interactive behavior with peers, whereas the lower functioning children displayed significantly more isolate play, and more interactive behavior with teachers.

The S.A.A.T. drawings revealed an essentially positive, accepting attitude on the part of the non-handicapped peers towards the handicapped children in their programs.

The implications of the present study are discussed in terms of the present implementation of integrated services for preschool handicapped children, as well as directions for future research in this area.

Acknowledgements

This study involved the time and energies of a great number of people over the past three years. I would like to thank a few special people who, in particular, helped make the completion of this work a reality.

First, I would like to acknowledge the National
Institute on Mental Retardation and the Scottish Rite
Charitable Foundation of Canada for their financial support
which allowed me to devote more time to this study.

The financial support of the provincial Department of Social Services and Community Health for the project in general must also be recognized. I would particularly like to recognize the support of Dr. Maria Carey of this department whose insight and enthusiasm was a source of inspiration for me.

Sincere appreciation is also extended to the staff, parents and children of the numerous programs we visited for time and information freely given.

I am indebted to Dr. G.M. Kysela for his constant support and guidance. This was greatfully accepted over the past few years, but rarely acknowledged.

I would also like to recognize some special friends who assisted in the formal aspects of this study, as well as assisting me on a much more personal level. Geri St.

Antoine, Michelle Wilson and Kofi Marfo - I couldn't have made it without you!

Lastly, to those who love gave me the confidence to believe in myself, Mum and Dad, and of course, Irv, thanks for being there!

Table of Contents

Chapter		Page
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
•	A. The Problem	1
	B. Scope and Limitations of the Study	2
•	C. Purpose of the Study	4
II.	troduction	5
:	B. The Rationale for Integration	9
	C. Interaction within Integrated Preschool	11
•	D. Attitudes toward Handicapped Individuals	21
	E. Programmatic Features of the Integrated Preschool	
	F. Summary	30
III.	RATEONALE AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	33
. IV.	METHOD	36
	A. Participants	
•	B. Design	38
٠.	C. Instruments	41
, .	The McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities	42
	Criterion-Referenced Assessment	43
	Preschool Observation System	44
	The Data Collection Device: MORE	48
	The Social Acceptability Apperception Test (S.A.A.T.)	st 48
	Questionnaires - Parent, Teacher, Aide .	49

D. Procedures52
General procedures52
The McCarthy Scale of Children's Abilities .54
The Criterion Referenced Assessment Device .54
The Preschool Observation System54
The S.A.A.T
Questionnaires55
E. Reliability56
V. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION58
A. The Handicapped Child58
Demographic characteristics
Diagnostic Data61
Normative Assessment66
Criterion-Referenced Assessment70
B. Interaction Patterns: Handicapped Children, Peers, and Teachers
C. Non-handicapped Peers: Attitudes89
D. Program Characteristics: General Program Information; Staff and Programming Characteristics; and Parental Involvement92
General Program Information92
Staff and Programming Characteristics94
Parent Involvement and Satisfaction with Program126
E. Summary131
VI. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS
BIBLIOGRAPHY142
Appendix A163
Appendix B

-	_		v ·	•	1.05
Appendix	C	 · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • •	



List of Tables

Table		Page
1	Behaviour Categories for More Recording	45
2	Behaviours: Definitions	46
3	Activity Conditions: Definitions	47
4	Demographic Data of E.C.S. and Day Care Groups	59
5	Demographic Data of E.C.S. and Day Care:	**
	Parents' Education	62
, 6	Demographic Data of E.C.S. and Day Care:	
ng.	Parents' Occupations	63
7	Diagnostic Information	64
. 8	Means and Range for the McCarthy Scales, C.A.	# ₁
,	and the Ratio of GCI/Chronological Age	67
O	Average Total Sub-Scale Scores and Ratio of	
•	Total Score Obtained/Total Possible Scores for	
	Each Group of the Criterion Referenced Test	71
10	Correlations between McCarthy and	. s
,	Criterion Referenced Assessment Subscales	75
11	Mean Occurrence Behaviors per Minute	78
12	Most Frequent Occurring Behaviors	19
13	Play Activities	80
14a	Correlation Matrix, Demographic Variables,	
	Behavior and Play Activities	83
14b	Correlation Matrix, Demographic Variables,	
	Rehavior and Play Activities	84

	1 4 c	Correlation Matrix, Demographic Variables, Behavior and Play Activities	85
· ·	15	Percentage of SAAT Drawings Exhibiting Speci Characteristics for Day Care, E.C.S. and R.D.).H.
	16 17	and R.D.H. Kindergarten Children Program Information E.C.S. Teacher Questionnaire Results	93 🦠
	18 19	Day Care Teacher Questionnaire Results Parental Satisfaction	127
	20	Parental Involvement	128
•		75	

I. INTRODUCTION

A. The Problem

The study which will be described in the following pages was intended to be part of a long term research project that would examine the process of integrating handicapped children within preschool programs in the province of Alberta. It was envisioned that the project would have three distinct phases. The first phase would be exploratory and formative in nature, and would address a basic issue: what is the nature of integration as it is currently occurring in Alberta preschools? Arising from this basic issue, it was anticipated that further more specific research hypotheses would be generated regarding successful integration which could be tested in phase two of the project. The third and final stage of the research would be to pull together the results of phases one and two to create an inservice package for teachers that would assist program personnel presently integrating, or planning to integrate, handicapped children.

In order to formulate more specific research questions regarding the integration process, our initial task was to formulate and examine its crucial dimensions. Models and methodologies to use in examining this particular educational process were notably absent from the literature. Although researchers had identified particular aspects or features which they considered crucial, it appeared no one

had formulated a more global approach to the process as a whole. Further, specific instruments that could be used in such an endeavor needed to be identified and tested. The major tasks, therefore, of the present study became clear: to isolate the dimensions of integration as an educational practise, to develop and/or test instruments suitable for examining the process, and to use those instruments to describe the integration experience of handicapped children in Alberta preschools. The next section of this chapter presents the perspectives and assumptions about the practise of integration as it shaped this current research effort.

B. Scope and Limitations of the Study

It is important to emphasize at the outset that this study was not intended to demonstrate the efficacy of integration but rather identify the critical parameters of the integration process itself. This formative research, however, is based on the premise that integration is a desireable objective and represents the right of the handicapped child to grow and learn in as "normal" an environment as possible. The process of educational integration is but one of many outcomes that has occurred as a result of Wolfensberger's (1972) conceptualization of the normalization of all human services for handicapped individuals.

The word integration will be used consistently throughout this thesis, and has been chosen deliberately to

avoid the confusion and connotations created by its more popular synonym "mainstreaming". As Saur, Layne, and Hurley (1981) put it, 'mainstreaming' is one of the most widely used and yet one of the most poorly defined words in the educational lexicon today"(p.9). Further, the term integration is more frequently associated with the placement of handicapped children at the preschool level, while the term mainstreaming has generally been associated with the return of handicapped children to the "mainstream" of regular school programs. Integration as it will be examined here refers to the placement of special needs children within regular preschool programs for all or part of their educational day. In addition, integration is seen as a means of providing an appropriate education for handicapped persons rather than as an end in itself. Integration, therefore, has a number of alternative options which can be selected according to the needs of a given handicapped child and resources available to the program/school. The primary qual of integration becomes, therefore, the achievement of an appropriate education for the handicapped student and not the achievement of total integration for all handicapped students per se.

Another set of terms that appear extensively and interchangeably throughout this work is "special needs" and "handicapped". These words have been as widely used and as poorly defined as the word "mainstreaming", but for a longer period. Hence they too are fraught with negative

connotations and apprehensions. In the current study, therefore, no attempt was made to define these terms; rather we let staff identify the children within their programs whom they perceived required extra assistance to function optimally. The type and extent of assistance required varied greatly among the group of children described here. A common element among them, however, was the fact that all programs had applied for, and in most cases, received, extra funds to provide this additional assistance.

C. Purpose of the Study

Integration at the preschool level has been a priority in Alberta for some time, preceding in fact integration at the school level. Formal recognition of the process began in 1972 with the establishment of the Integrated Day Care Program funded through Services for the Handicapped, Alberta Social Services and Community Health. The Early Childhood Services Branch followed in 1973 with the establishment of special funding allocations through the Category 'A' and Program Unit Grant designations. However, there has been little, if any, systematic investigation of the process in the ten years since the inception of these programs. The current study hopes to carry out such a systematic investigation by addressing crucial questions with regard to the nature of the integration process. Let us now turn to a more detailed examination of the research in this area in an effort to identify these crucial questions.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Introduction

In order to understand the directions that research in the area of integration has taken, it is important to consider the historical development and anticipated outcomes of this educational practise. This brief review of its early beginnings will help place later research efforts in a more easily understandable perspective.

The trend away from segregated school placements for handicapped students appears to be a world wide phenomena (Sinson & Wetherick, 1981; Wilton & Densem, 1977; Davis, 1980). However, in this present study, the beginnings of this movement will be traced as they occurred in the United States in view of the considerable implications they present for Canadian educational policy.

The rise of integration as an educational practise in the U.S. has been fostered by a number of parallel, but supportive, philosophical and educational movements. At a philosophical level, integration is closely linked with the anti-segregation movement, the civil rights movement, and the principle of normalization (Wolfensberger, 1972).

Educationally, integration has been buoyed along by a growing disenchantment both with the process of labelling children with special needs, as well as the rather minimal outcomes resulting from segregated education, particularly for the mildly retarded (Dunn, 1968; Jaffre, 1966;

Jones,1972). Further, many educators were optimistic about the positive outcomes claimed for integration as an educational alternative. These educational and philosophical movements culminated in the passage of PL94-142 (The Education for All Handicapped Children Act, 1975) which legislated the compulsory enrollment of handicapped children within the 'least restrictive environment'. This landmark legislation, to be fully implemented by September, 1978, made mainstreaming/integration an educational requirement in the U.S.

Legislation alone, however, will not make integration an educational reality. The issues surrounding this concept and its implementations are emotional and complex. Sarason and Doris (1979), for example, state that at its root integration is a moral issue based on three questions: how do we want to live together? on what basis do we give priority to one value over another? how far does the majority go in accommodating the needs of the minority? Further, they go on, the moral issues underlying integration, deeply rooted, ingrained and reinforced by tradition, and institutional and social structure and practise, will not be changed except over a long period of time. Inconsistencies abound. The traditional public school systems are considered by some as mirror images of what exists in colleges and universities. These institutions are required to bridge the gulf between special and regular education, and yet the law does not require any change

college and university training centres who continue to educate school personnel in the tradition of the "most restrictive alternative".

Some researchers (Blacher-Dixon et al, 1981; Hobb et al, 1975; Carlberg and Kavale, 1980; Meisels, 1977) feel that the move to integration was premature and that it may not be appropriate for some groups of children. These researchers feel that the policy of integration is in advance of present data collection, analysis, and conclusions drawn from empirical research. In addition to the complex and emotional nature of the integration issue, research in the area is further complicated by the lack of a common definition for this concept. Generally agreed upon aspects of integration include some degree of temporal, social, and instructional integration. Many researchers identify social integration, that is, do the handicapped and nonhandicapped actually interact, as the key element. Other researchers (Corman & Gottlieb, 1977) feel the concept is broader. They identified three parameters of mainstreaming: integration, educational planning and programming processes. and clarification of responsibilities among educational personnel.

Although the parliamentary equivalent to PL 94-142 does not yet exist in Canada (although some provinces have some legislation with similar aspects), the trend has been to follow the American's lead and begin to integrate handicapped children within the mainstream of the regular

school system. This appears to be particularly true at the preschool level due to a generally held belief that integration is easier with young children than with those in the uppes grades. This belief seems linked to the concept of elasticity that surrounds young children, and hence programs for young children (Galloway & Chandler, 1980). Guralnick (1976), for example, states that young children are less perturbed by individual differences and that early childhood programs are more apt to have mixed groups of children (ages, sizes, and developmental levels), as well as providing more individualized programming than the regular school system. Others (Pain, 1982; Larrivee & Cook, 1979) relate ease of early integration to the centrality of play. as a learning tool in early childhood programs. Peers are more appropriate models of play behaviors than adults. Further, teacher attitudes have been found to be increasingly negative with ascending grade level (Larrivee & Cook, 1979) so there appears sto be less resistance to integrated placement at the early childhood level.

Given the growing tendency to integrate handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children within the same program, what does the literature have to tell us about this global and complex phenomena? Structuring the research for presentation is difficult: studies are diverse and lacking commonality. There is a lack of well researched guidelines for implementation or well researched methods for evaluation (Allen, 1980). Guralnick(1981) states that debate with

respect to goals, outcome measures, and evaluation criteria for mainstreaming will certainly continue for some time. Further, no generally agreed upon format or set of issues can be found that could be used to examine research in this area.

In culling the literature, however, several common themes appear which provide an organizational framework for examining the research. These themes are: the rationale for integration; interaction within integrated settings; attitudes toward handicapped individuals; and programmatic features of integrated preschool programs. Research in the last three areas stems from the claims made in the first category. Hence, it seems appropriate to consider the rationale underlying integrated placements, before proceeding onto the other three research areas.

B. The Rationale for Integration

On a higher level, integration's goals are described as having the individual exhibit "normal" behavior, and having the individual live as normal a daily existence as possible (Neisworth, 1975). Stated another way, the goals for early integration of handicapped children are stigma reduction/removal and academic, behavioral, and social competence enhancement (Galloway & Chandler, 1980; Blacher-Dixon et al, 1981). More specifically, reasons for including handicapped preschool children in regular programs include: (1)the handicapped children benefit academically,

socially, and behaviorally from interaction with normal peers. It is assumed that the normal stimulate, act as a skilled model, and even give feedback to the handicapped child during interaction. Similarly, it is assumed that the handicapped children can imitate positive and at times negative behaviors displayed by the nonhandicapped children. It is also hoped that this early training equips the handicapped child with processes that allow adaptation to novel situations. At an even more basic level, many researchers feel that some minimal level of interaction must occur for any potential benefits of integration to result (Guralnick, 1981).

(2) The general level of societal understanding and acceptance of the handicapped may be increased through early exposure of nonhandicapped children to handicapped children in integrated settings. Many researchers assume that negative feelings toward the handicapped have not yet developed at this age, and through appropriate structure and experience, positive attitudes toward the handicapped will begin and continue into later life. As a spin off from integrated early programming, many researchers point to the positive effect of integration on the adults associated with integrated programs, specifically the parents of the nonhandicapped children, and the staff within the programs themselves. In addition, placing handicapped children in regular programs helps place the responsibility for treatment of exceptional children on society in general.

(3) Many claim program individualization as an educational goal is converted into action through integration. The teacher can more readily monitor each child's progress when dealing with heterogeneous groups of children, The exploration of alternative curricular materials and instructional strategies enhances the teacher's instructional repetoire which should in turn positively effect all children in the class (Bricker & Sandall, 1979).

(4) Integration is a preventative rather than a remedial strategy. Placement in an integrated setting avoids unwanted behaviors that may result from differential placement. (5) It may be cheaper.

Obviously, educators have high hopes for the potential benefits of integrated programming. A detailed examination of some of the research in the areas of interaction within integrated programs, attitudes towards handicapped individuals, and programmatic features of integrated preschools will help evaluate the validity of this enthusiasm.

C. Interaction within Integrated Preschool Programs

Although academic, behavioral, and social benefits have all been claimed as a result of interaction between handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children, it is only the area of social interaction that has received serious attention from researchers. Social interaction is felt to be important because it stimulates the academic and

behavioral benefits of integration, and secondly because many feel there must be some minimal level of social interaction if benefits beyond those that could be achieved in a segregated setting are to occur.

A number of researchers have investigated the finteraction of handicapped and nonhandicapped children in preschool settings. Although some researchers (Peterson & Haralick, 1977; Dunlop et al, 1980) have demonstrated the existence of social interaction between handicapped and nonhandicapped children, by far the majority of studies (Cavallaro & Porter, 1980; Guralnick, 1981; Wilton & Densem, 1977; Fietelson et al, 1972; Kennedy et al, 1976; Sinson & Wetherick, 1981; Simon & Gillman, 1979; White, 1980; Novak et al, 1980) have shown that handicapped children demonstrate less mature forms of play, less social interaction, and are socially isolated from their normally developing peers. Further some researchers (Guralnick, 1981; Simon & Gillman, 1979; Sinson & Wetherick, 1981) found that this isolation increased over time. Comparability among studies is lacking and makes generalizability of the findings difficult, however, it is just this lack of commonality that lends credence to the findings. Despite differing ratios of handicapped and nonhandicapped children, different types of handicapping conditions, different program settings and different research methodologies, the handicapped children were socially isolated from their nonhandicapped peers.

Guralnick(1981), for example, investigated the effects of group composition (12 nonhandicapped; 9 mildly handicapped; 5 moderately handicapped; 11 severly handicapped children) on social participation, constructiveness of play, and communicative interactions. The results demonstrated that more advanced children engaged in higher levels of social play, played more constructively, communicated more, and received more communications from other children, but received fewer prompts and reinforcements from teachers. Conversely, less advanced children distributed their communications to and received their communications from each of the four groups about equally; however, more advanced children directed only 14% of their communications (expected to be about 42% on the basis of availability) to less advanced youngsters. Guralnick concludes that some degree of social isolation of the less advanced children is suggested, and increased over time, although direct rejection was not observed.

Feitelson et al (1972) compared the social interaction of 48 disadvantaged and 48 privileged preschoolers in Israeli preschool classrooms: three containing hetereogeneous groups of both disadvantaged and advantaged children, and one containing a homogeneous group of disadvantaged children. Heterogeneous disadvantaged children had more social interaction units than did homogeneous disadvantaged children, however, the heterogeneous privileged and disadvantaged children interacted mainly

within their own groups. Also the children in heterogeneous classrooms developed increased interaction with peers while homogeneous disadvantaged children remained dependant on adults. The authors explained the lack of interaction between the privileged and disadvantaged children as stemming from a lack of shared experiences.

Wilton and Densem (1977) had similar results with intellectually handicapped preschoolers in New Zealand. Intellectually handicapped children (I.Q. below 50) attending regular preschool (heterogeneous group) showed significantly higher levels of social participation than intellectually handicapped children attending special preschool (homogeneous group) and a significantly lower level of social participation than their nonhandicapped classmates.

Kennedy et al (1976) in a longitudinal study of severely to profoundly deaf children in regular elementary classes found that hearing impaired children interacted more with teachers than did their peers. However, they were as socially accepted as their classmates and perceptive of their status. Academically, the two groups were also equivalent, with the exception the hearing children scored higher on a word knowledge test.

Sinson and Wetherick (1981) in an interesting study using video cameras to examine the interaction of Down's Syndrome in a normal playgroup found that normal children made "beroic attempts" to establish contact with the Down's

Syndrome children but eventually gave up. As a result, the Down's Syndrome children became isolates in the group relating only to the adult helpers. This occurred despite the fact that the Down's Syndrome children were well prepared and capable of participating in all activities of the normal children. The authors relate their findings to the fact that the D.S. children did not maintain mutual gaze which may be interpreted by the nonhandicapped ghildren as gaze aversion, evidence of a desire to avoid interaction.

Simon and Gillman (1979) found that when four preschool visually impaired children were mainstreamed, sighted pupils and teachers became anxious, resorted to stereotypic behaviors and demonstrated increasing avoidance of the handicapped children over time.

Novak et al (1980) found that handicapped children (sensory, cognitive, or behavioral deficits) in integrated settings played less with peers and more with objects, initiated and received fewer social interactions with peers and spent less time in close proximity to other children. They also displayed heightened visual awareness. These behavioral differences' appeared consistently across settings.

White (1980) found the interaction between handicapped and nonhandicapped preschoolers was effected by both the number of handicapped children and by teacher behavior. In one preschool handicapped children were isolated and rejected, whereas in another preschool with more handicapped

children and more nondirective teachers there were no significant differences between the handicapped and nonhandicapped children. The children in the study demonstrated a number of handicapping conditions including Down's Syndrome, mild to moderate retardation, cerebral palsy, language problems, and motor problems.

Although these studies suggest handicapped children may be socially more active in heterogeneous settings, it appears that these interactions are generally directed at either teachers or children with similar characteristics as themselves. Further, it is generally agreed among most researchers that for "true" interaction to occur, the mere presence of handicapped children is not enough. Some type of intervention is required to stimulate the desired interaction. A growing body of research with both normal and handicapped children has been investigating the efficacy of training children to model and reinforce appropriate behaviors of other children.

Rubin (1977) found, for example, that SES and age of the model as well as the modelling environment impinged on the type of behavior displayed. Lower SES children were less mature both socially and cognitively in play styles; younger children displayed more sensorimotor play, while older children demonstrated more dramatic play, and lastly most social play occurred in the house and vehicle corners and in the reading and number activities.

Langlois and Downs (1979) found that although there was no difference in the affiliative behaviors between attractive and unattractive children, when attractiveness of both child and peer were considered more affiliative behavior was exhibited to peers who were similar to themselves.

Fours and Liikanen (1975) explored the effects of age and developmental level on imitation in children. Forty children were divided on the variables of age, and developmental level as assessed by performance on a Piagetian type task. The results showed that following a televised task, older subjects imitated more than younger ones, however, an interaction effect occurred: for younger subjects, the lower developmental subjects imitated significantly less, whereas for older subjects, the reverse was true. They concluded that children different in age, and developmental level possess different tendencies to imitate, and it becomes important to determine the ages and developmental levels at which learning through observation and learning through imitating models are optimal.

Not only do children differ in their tendency to imitate (learn), but also in their use of teaching strategies. Koester and Bueche (1980) found that demonstration, assistance, and explanation were the most frequent forms of teaching strategies used by 4 year olds teaching 3 year olds block design tasks. Males used correction significantly more than females, and classroom

placement affected teaching style. The authors related classroom differences to familiarity with 'tutee' and differences in the adult teacher's style.

Peterson et al (1977) investigated the ability of handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children to imitate since it is felt that this ability is critical to increased interaction between these two groups. Fourteen handicapped and fifteen nonhandicapped children were coached in serving as a model for other children in a task sequence containing 10 simple behaviors. The modelling occurred in a 1 to 1 situation. The results showed that both handicapped and nonhandicapped subjects exhibited the same amount of peer imitation, but both were more likely to imitate a model who was nonhandicapped.

A number of researchers have used nonhandicapped peers to increase the handicapped child's appropriate play skills and language usage. Guralnick, in a series of studies (1976; 1977; 1980) was able to increase the handicapped children's language usage (Guralnick; 1976), and found that nonhandicapped children adjust their speech according to the developmental level of their peers (Guralnick; Paul-Brown, 1977; 1980). In both structured and free play settings, nonhandicapped children tended to divide the handicapped into two groups: mildly handicapped and moderately/severely handicapped and adjusted their speech accordingly. These modifications were more sophisticated than mere reduction, i.e. less speech. They included a proportionately

appropriate variety of speech forms, as well as adjusting their verbal interactions to be consistent with the communicative goal of the speaker and social roles of the participants.

Furman(1979) found that one to one peer contact with younger children increased the social activity of withdrawn children. Dyadic contact with same age children also led to increased social activity, but less than with younger children. The intervention altered the isolate's reinforcement rates. Reinforcement rates were tripled among subjects who interacted with younger children and doubled for children interacting with same age peers. The authors suggest the play sessions provided isolates with the opportunity to be "socially assertive", that is, direct, when these socially assertive behaviors were more likely to be successful.

Researchers such as Snyder, Apolloni & Cooke (1977) have specified in more detail the critical components of peer imitation with handicapped children. Imitation is facilitated by structuring situations where handicapped children observe peer models, and receive positive reinforcement for performing desired behaviors. Further, a program for generalizing imitation must be included whereby imitative behavior learned in a one to one situation will generalize across stimulus situations to responses never directly trained. The nonhandicapped children also have to be trained to be effective reinforcing agents. They need to

learn those aspects of the handicapped child's behavior that: should be reinforced and how to dispense social and material reinforcers on a contingent basis. These same authors state that reciprocal peer imitation may be necessary for the development of friendship between retarded and nonretarded children. Nonhandicapped children do not spontaneously imitate the handicapped children, hence peer imitation training must be aimed at both groups of children if increased reciprocal imitation is to occur. Particularly if you use imitation by nonhandicapped peers to establish joint activity routines or turn taking. In addition, increasing the handicapped child's peer reinforcement value can also contribute to reciprocal imitative behaviors. Raver, Cooke and Apolonni (1978) found that two retarded toddlers taught to reliably imitate normally developing peer models, by and large retained their trained imitative repetoires under altered environmental situations (structured, not free play).

Gresham (1981) concurs with Snyder et al (1977) in stating that special children need to receive social skill training to increase positive social interaction, decrease negative social interaction, and enhance their social acceptance by nonhandicapped peers. He conceptualized social skill deficits along three dimensions: (1) skill deficits, best remediated through live modelling, (2) performance deficits; best remediated through reinforcement (controlling antecedent and consequent continguencies), and (3) self

control deficits, best remediated through cognitive behavior modification. He feels studies examining the impact of social skills training in integrated settings are inadequate along a number of dimensions: a lack of theory regarding which social skills need to be selected, and their subsequent impact on the handicapped child's personal relationships; a lack of adequate evidence concerning the impact social skills training on "socially valid" measures of social competence; deficient evidence on maintenance and generalization; inadequate attention being paid to improving the nonhandicapped child's interaction; and lastly, which techniques are successful with which types of handicapping conditions.

D. Attitudes toward Handicapped Individuals

The second broad area of research in integration relates to the claims that early integration fosters the . development of more positive attitudes towards handicapped peers that will continue into the child's adult life. Further, the increased positive attitudes of the children combined with the more positive attitudes of the adults connected with the program will, hopefully, contribute to a much more accepting attitude towards handicapped individuals by society as a whole. When one reviews the research in this area, however, one is struck by the lack of empirical support for these claims. Most research merely describes the anticipated benefits of integrated placement. Bricker and

Sandall (1979) are typical in this regard. They state that peers interacting with handicapped children prior to the emergence of negative attitudes promotes tolerance, understanding and an opportunity to learn about each other. The attitudinal benefits of integration are based on three assumptions: one, that nonhandicapped children have not yet developed any negative attitudes toward the handicapped; two, that integrated programs will facilitate the development of positive attitudes towards the handicapped; and three, that these positive attitudes will continue into the child's adult life. These remain three very large and virtually unproven assumptions. Research in this area becomes particularly important in view of the disappointing, but consistent finding that integration at the school level Mas not led to more positive attitudes toward handicapped pupils (Corman & Gottlieb, 1977; Iano et al, 1974; Gerber, 1977; Reese-Dukes & Stokes, 1978; Goodman, Gottlieb, & Harrison, 1972).

Gottlieb, who has been a leader in this area, examined the factors that affect attitude formation towards handicapped peers. In a 1977 study, Siperstein and Gottlieb found that competent, physically nonstigmatized children were rated more favorably than less competent, physically stigmatized children. Girls had significantly more positive stereotype of a competent male target, but boys were more willing to be in close proximity. Further, popular children rated an attractive and competent child less favorably,

whereas, popular children rated an attractive less competent child more favorably. Siperstein and Gottleib's study demonstrated that characteristics of the person in whom the attitude is developing is important. Just what those characteristics are is not clear. Goodman, Gottlieb, and Harrison (1972), for example, found that on a sociometric questionnaire, younger subjects were more accepting of EMR students (integrated and segregated) and boys were more overtly rejecting than girls. Peterson (1975), however, found that older students were more accepting of handicapped students. Corman and Gottlieb (1977) have suggested that acceptance of handicapping conditions may be U shaped function, i.e., high in lower elementary and preschool, sinking to its lowest point in grades 5 and 6, and ascending again as the child moves to adulthood.

Two studies attempted to determine the age at which children become aware of limitations imposed by handicapping conditions. Jones (1967) in a study of 152 preschool children (aged 3,4,and 5 years) found that 4 years was the age at which children began to perceive limitations imposed by physical (orthopedic) disability. Gerber (1977) in an extension of the Jones study, examined the attitudes of nine nonhandicapped childen, aged 3 and 1/2 to 5 years, toward three handicapped peers. He examined the awareness of difference and degree of social acceptance using a sociogram. He found that the nonhandicapped children were aware of differences, and the degree of awareness followed

the severity (visability) of the disability. He also found that there was a greater degree of rejection towards the handicapped children than acceptance. Gerber concludes that we need to examine the developmental processes whereby exceptional children are seen as different, as well as the effects of teacher attitudes, curriculum, and family attitudes on attitude development in young children.

Richardson (1976) makes some tentative generalizations about attitudes and behavior toward physically handicapped individuals. Initial reactions to those who are physically handicapped are less favorable than towards those who are not handicapped. There is considerable agreement among subcultures as to which physical handicaps are more or less preferred. Emotional arousal and anxiety occur in varying degrees in an initial encounter with a handicapped person. Richardson states these reactions are present early in childhood, and may stem from what he calls 'violation of expectation!, that is, handicapped individuals violate our. expected norm in terms of physical appearance. The obvious but unproven implication for early childhood programs is that the earlier in life, and the broader the range of different people an individual has experienced, the less will be the likelihood of a violation of expectation. However, as Donaldson (1980) points out, whether or not eliciting more positive attitudes towards handicapped individuals results in subsequent behavior change or has long term effects needs further exploration.

An additional complication in the whole area of attitude research lies in the lack of appropriate instruments. Many researchers (Guralnick, 1981; Sigler et al., 1978; Dunlop, 1980; Asher et al., 1979) have pointed to the difficulty in obtaining reliable insights into affective and attitudinal process of young children using sociometric choice procedures and other attitude assessments. Dunlop and her colleagues (1980) found a sociometric choice instrument unreliable on repeated administration with preschoolers. Sociometric rating scales have been found to be more successful with older children. Asher et al (1979) therefore, compared a peer nomination type of sociometric technique (sociometric choice) with a sociometric rating scale adapted for preschoolers and found the latter to also be more reliable in detecting preschool peer preferences.

In summary, it appears that the impact of integrated programming on attitude development in young children is very much an unresolved issue. Research has been sparse, inconsistent, and full of methodological difficulties.

E. Programmatic Features of the Integrated Preschool

whereas the previous two areas of research have focused on outcome measures associated with integration, the last body of important research centers around the "how to" or the process, of implementing an integrated preschool program. Relevant variables in this area are numerous (Guralnick, 1981), but rélatively unexplored.

Frequently mentioned variables include type of program (curriculum model), teacher training, staffing patterns, child variables such as type of handicap and ratio of handicapped to nonhandicapped children, and parental involvement. There are few studies, however, that have attempted to specifically isolate any of these dimensions, and most often information on these issues comes as additional input from studies examining other issues (Peterson and Haralick, 1977).

Most researchers seem to agree that a specific curriculum model is not the issue, but rather what is needed is a theoretically sound and dependably structured curriculum (Allen, 1980; Karnes, 1979). Some (Meisels, 1977) feel individualized instruction, ie, specific goals and strategies referenced against the child's ability, is a must. Others (Fink and Sandall, 1978) feel that individual tutoring did little to improve handicapped children's functioning in an integrated setting. These authors found that small group, integrated academic instruction, (DISTAR programs) was feasible and beneficial for both handicapped and nonhandicapped children.

Vincent et al (1980) stressed the differences between special and regular early childhood programs. Regular kindergartens are characterized by greater use of teacher directed large group activities than special programs. The regular kindergarten teacher uses less teacher-directed small group activities and more child directed small group

activities. Regular kindergarten provides less one to one instruction than special education and demands that children perform and learn with less adult supervision and reinforcement. Traditional special education on the other hand uses techniques that stress precision of cues, precision in definition of acceptable child fesponses, and precision and consistency in reinforcement of child responses. The integrated classroom attempts to combine the best of these two orientations.

It is felt by many that the teacher is the key to providing this 'blended' classroom experience. It is also generally agreed, although little researched, that preschool teachers' attitudes are more favorable toward integration than teachers in the upper grades (Larrivee & Cook, 1979), and therefore, attention can be focused on skill development rather than positive attitude development. Meisels (1977) feels the skills needed by the teacher in the integrated classroom are extensive: it is assumed that the teacher has the fundamental teaching competence in the regular classrabm. Further, based on the differences between special and regular education described by Vincent et al (1980), it is important that the teacher's skills incorporate both early childhood and special education competencies. That differences emist in teacher behaviors in the regular versus special class is demonstrated by a study by Pastor and Swap (1978) in which they compared the behavior of emotionally disturbed preschoolers (4) in regular and special class. The children displayed more disruptive behavior in regular class, and the behaviors of regular and special class teachers differed. The special class teachers interrupted more, explained more, and were present more during activities. The authors say this may be related to the smaller ratios usually found in special classes. They concluded that the teacher's presence helped in structured, teacher directed activities (children were less disruptive), but not during unstructured child organized activities.

Unfortunately, many teachers feel unprepared and negative toward teaching in an integrated program. Gickling and Theobold (1975) cited in Crisci (1981) reported that 85% of teachers surveyed felt they lacked the necessary skills for teaching handicapped children. Childs (1981) more recently surveyed 200 regular teachers teaching in mainstreamed classrooms at all levels and found that only 38% supported the concept of mainstreaming, and they accerally felt unprepared and unsupported.

The need for both insertice and preservice training programs is apparent. A plea for integrated preservice training was made earlier in this paper (Doris and Sarason, 1979). Meisels (1977) suggests the following as important competencies for the teacher in an integrated program: a knowledge of normal growth and development in the young child, training and practice in working with children who have a variety of handicapping conditions; skill in analyzing developmental tasks and engaging in step by step

programming to individualize programming for the handicapped child, and the ability to work with special disciplines so that program content can be matched to the child's developmental needs.

. There is probably no ideal ratio of handicapped to nonhandicapped children within a program. The federal mandate for Headstart in the U.S. is that 10% of the children enrolled must be considered handicapped. There is a general feeling in the literature, however, that having only one child in a program has some disadvantages. These concerns centre on the fact that the handicapped child's differences will be accentuated, and that having only one handicapped child fosters a stereotyped view of all handicapped young children. Further, some feel the handicapped child will feel isolated and segregated. Interestingly enough many of the studies which demonstrated positive interaction between the handicapped and nonhandicapped children had high proportions of handicapped children. In some the handicapped children outnumbered the normally developing children (Peterson and Haralick, 1977).

The last, but seldom researched programmatic feature is the effects of integrated preschool programs on parents.

Blacher-Dixon et al (1981) and Allen (1980) point to this as an important area for future research. Potential issues for future consideration include: factors influencing parental value systems towards integration, the resolution of conflict between the child's best interests and the parent's

best interests, preparation of parents (of handicapped and nonhandicapped children) for integration, the relationship of positive effects of integration on parents to successful child outcomes, and the relationship between parental values and placing a child in an integrated setting. Roopnarine and Lamb (1980) for example found preprogram differences in parent-child interactions in children who attended a nursery school versus those who did not attend). In conclusion, parental involvement (Karnes, 1979) is important because it provides an ongoing system that reinforces and sustains the effects of the program in the child's natural environment.

F. Summary

Integration, thus, as an educational alternative to segregated class placement for young handicapped children has been proposed on the basis of a number of positive outcomes centering largely on benefits to the handicapped child (academically, socially, and behaviorally) and attitudinal gains to their nonhandicapped peers. A review of the literature reveals, however, that support for most of these outcomes is preliminary at best, and nonexistent at worst.

By far the largest body of research has examined the interaction that occurs between the handicapped child and their normally developing peers. This interaction was felt by many to be a measure of true integration, and was considered to be the most important dimension of integration

that is unavailable in a segregated setting. The importance of interaction between the two types of children is based on the premise that the handicapped child can improve his academic, behavioral and social skills by imitating his nonhandicapped classmates. The literature suggests that mere physical proximity is inadequate, however, and that some very specific strategies are necessary to make this premise a reality. Most studies found, for example, that although - handicapped children were more socially active in hetereogeneous settings this interaction was primarily directed at the adults in the setting or other children with similar characteristics as themselves. Further some researchers (Sinson & Wetherick, 1981) found that handicapped children were isolated, and even rejected and that this rejection increased over time (Simon & Gillman, 1979; White, 1980). Encouraging beginnings have been made by people such as Guralnick (1976,1977,1980); Synder et al (1977) and Gresham (1981) in identifying those aspects of both the model, the imitator, and the modelling context which can maximize the handicapped child's ability to imitate. Unfortunately, much of this work is still experimental in nature and could not be considered part of the standard teaching repetoire of early childhood teachers.

The claims that integration positively influences the nonhandicapped children's attitudes remains largely unsubstantiated. Studies that specifically examined this issue are few, and those that exist are complicated by

methodological difficulties. Further, there is little evidence that early integration effects attitude development over the long term or that positive attitude development if achieved leads to important behavioral consequences.

parameters which are most important for successful integration. Although there is much work still to be done, there appears to be some agreement among researchers that staff and type of program, child variables, particularly type of handicap and ratio of handicapped to nonhandicapped children, and parental involvement are the most important elements for successful integration.

The literature seems fairly clear in pointing out the directions that future integration research should take. These form the basis of the rationale for this study, and will be translated into specific research questions in the next chapter.

III. RATIONALE AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Although noone has considered the integration process in its entirety, when one considers the full spectrum of research undertaken it becomes clear that certain dimensions are considered to be critical. The first of these dimensions is the nature of the interaction between the handicapped children and their nonhandicapped peers. The second dimension is the impact of integrated programming on the attitude development of the nonhandicapped children within the program. The third broad dimension is those program features which facilitate or maximize the integration experience. There is an important qualitative difference between the first two dimensions to be considered, and the third. The interaction patterns and attitude development dimensions explore anticipated outcomes of integration. Program features, on the other hand, encompass a whole host of factors that are felt to facilitate the successful implementation of an integrated program. The three are intertwined; however, in that without a successful program, incorporating those desired program features described in the third dimension, it is unlikely that the desired outcomes of dimensions one and two will be forthcoming.

In examining the integration experience of handicapped. children in Alberta preschools, these three dimensions were explored. Initially, however, important descriptive information was collected on the nature of the handicapped children and their families. Specifically, demographic

information on the children and their families, and diagnostic and general functioning of the children were reviewed.

The data collected in this research, therefore, related to four specific aspects of integration: the nature of the children and their families currently enrolled in integrated programs; the interaction patterns of these children and their nonhandicapped peers; the attitude development of the nonhandicapped children towards their handicapped peers; and program features of the integrated preschool. The specific questions addressed in each of these areas are outlined below.

A. The handicapped child and his family

- 1. What are the demographic characteristics of handicapped children and their families currently integrated in Alberta preschools?
- 2. What is the nature of their handicapping conditions?
- 3. What is the functioning level of these children? What instruments are available for this particular group of children?
- B. Interaction/patterns: handicapped children, peers and teachers
 - 1. What are the major characteristics of the handicapped children's interaction patterns within integrated settings? Specifically, what types of specific behaviors and play activities are most often displayed, and with

whom in the classroom does most interaction take place?

- C. Non-Handicapped peers: attitudes
- 1. What is the nature of the nonhandicapped children's attitude toward the handicapped?
- 2. Is the Social Acceptability Apperception Test (S.A.A.T.) assessing preschool children's attitudes towards their handicapped peers?
- D. Program characteristics
- 1. What are the salient characteristics of integrated preschool programs in Alberta with respect to:
 - a. general program characteristics group size and ratio of handicapped to nonhandicapped children?
 - b. staff and programming characteristics staff views and attitudes toward integration; personnel preparation; specific instructional programming for the handicapped child?
 - involved in programs and how satisfied are they with their children's placement in an integrated setting?

The instruments and procedures used in addressing these questions are described in the next chapter.

IV. METHOD

A. Participants

The children and centres involved in this study were solicited from day care and Early Childhood Services (E.C.S.) programs throughout Alberta. Children were designated as subjects in the investigation if they had been identified by the program staff as requiring additional assistance to function within their respective settings. Further most programs were in receipt of additional funds to assist in the provision of any special programming required. Children in E.C.S. programs received funding through category A or Program Unit Grant designation, while day care children were funded through the Integrated Day Care Program.

The sampling procedures for the day care and ECS groups differed substantially. An attempt was made to gather information on children currently integrated in Alberta day cares under the Integrated Day Care Program. This was done through the Child Development Specialists in each area. These individuals were responsible at this time for supervision of children funded through the Integrated Day Care Program. A sample of the questionnaire used to gather information from the Child Development Specialists is shown in Appendix A. Upon receipt of these questionnaires, the children were randomly selected for the sample in order to match the known distribution of special needs children

integrated in rural(40%) and urban(60%) day care programs; as well as to include a variety of handicapping conditions.

This approach was not feasible with ECS programs for a number of administrative reasons. ECS programs were identified by officals within the provincial ECS branch, and the Edmonton Public and Catholic School Boards. As with the day care sample, an attempt was made to match the known distribution of special needs children integrated in ECS programs(40% rural, 60% urban); as well as to include a variety of handicapping conditions. Due to the difficulty of obtaining urban ECS children for the sample, however, there is a higher percentage of children from rural ECS programs than found in the provincial population.

As a result of these criteria, 65 children from 31 programs were involved in the study. Within daycare programs, 21 urban children in 9 programs and 12 rural children in 4 programs were involved. In ECS programs 16 urban children in 11 programs and 16 rural children in 7 programs were selected. Urban centres included Calgary, Edmonton and Red Deer whereas rural centres were from several locales throughout the province. Demographic characteristics of the children will be presented in the results section.

B. Design

Program evaluation/analysis is always a complicated issue in education, but evaluation/analysis of integration as an educational process is particularly complex because it involves the domains of both early childhood education and special education. Effective educational strategies in both of these fields remains very much an unresolved issue.

It is beyond the scope of this research to identify parameters of early childhood programs in terms of educational quality. The focus rather is on the provision of an appropriate (quality?) educational experience for the handicapped child, and the identification of those aspects that contribute to this positive experience. Further, as integration accommodates children with diverse handicapping conditions, the aspects (parameters) identified must be flexible enough to incorporate the various unique needs of each.

what kind of approach/model can be used for examining and isolating the important aspects of integration?

According to Rossi et al (1979) evaluation research may be the appropriate tool for purposes of this study. They define evaluation research as "an area of activity devoted to collecting, analyzing, and interpreting information regarding the need, implementation, and impact of intervention efforts aimed at bettering the lot of human kind and improving social conditions and community life."

There are two widely accepted types of evaluation research:

summative and formative. Summative evaluation research has been described as the use of research procedures for determining the "success" of a program in reaching its stated goals or producing expected effects. According to Rutman (1977) evaluation of program effectiveness assumes the presence of certain preconditions: (1) the program is clearly articulated; (2) the goals and/or expected outcomes are clearly specified; and (3) the causal assumptions linking the program to the goals and/or outcomes are plausible. These preconditions should normally be developed through program planning and development. Finding programs, however, where these preconditions exist is rare. These preconditions combine to produce a program model; such a model is clearly absent in the case of integration.

Hughes et al (1981) state that in the absence of a model, the implementation of a process assessment is more descriptive, emphasizing the documentation of what has(is) transpired. They suggest this can be done through (1)participant observation, (2) structured and unstructured interviews, and (3) the use of administrative records. This type of process assessment is what most researchers would call formative evaluation. Formative evaluation is aimed at discovery and relies heavily on an inductive approach. It is the study of a program that affords a learning opportunity with research used as a tool for collecting data to assist in the conceptualization and operationalization of a program, its goals and effects, and the assumed causal

relationships between the two. Formative evaluation in contrast to summative, places heavier reliance on "soft" approaches to data collection (unstructured interviews and observation) and measures used (attitudes, opinions, etc.) During this period it is appropriate to refine the approaches and measures used through practise.

Rutman (1977) identifies three major types of information to be collected during a formative evaluation: (1) program activities, and the existence of an "idealized" program. To contribute a better understanding of a program, formative research collects data on program personnel, organizational structure and climate, policy, and context within which the program operates. In the area of program ' personnel, some of the following factors may be considered relevant: 'demographic characteristics, type of training, work experience, particular attitudes, etc. Relevant questions with regard to organizational structure and climate include hierarchtical levels, span of control, size, compexity and centralization of authority. Folicy issues focus on the way the program implements policy, and context variables relate to the environmental realities within which the program functions. (2) identification of program effects: both publicly stated as well as latent goals. Also side effects (i.e., unintentional) can be identified by using the literature or other research. (3) exploration of the "problem" the program attempts to solve. Programs make implicit and/or expricit assumptions about the cause of the

problem being addressed. These assumptions may be highly questionable, and therefore it is important to examine the stated "problem" in order to validate these assumptions. For example, it is important to identify the population which the program serves, and thus demographic data are required. Specific and detailed information should be collected about the needs or problems which the program add escee. As sell it is important to know whether the remark in ser ing the most in need.

Given the current status of integrated preschool programs in Alberta it would appear that a formative evaluation approach provides us with the most appropriate framework to investigate the important dimensions of integration as previously identified. A formative approach provides valuable direction has been of information to be collected as it is a distanced.

Instruments

Aimensions outline's several types of assessment devices were employed. The handicapped children's competencies were initially assessed with the McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities (McCarthy, 1972). If the child was found to be functioning at a low level on this device (greater than I standard deviation below the mean) a criterion referenced assessment device was also employed. The Preschool

Observation System was used to monitor the children's interaction patterns; while, the Social Acceptability Apperception Test (Berger, Hillyard, and Kozak, 1979) was used to identify attitudes of the nonhandicapped peers towards the handicapped. Finally, several questionnaires were developed for use with parents of the handicapped child, the teaching staff and aides in each program.

The McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities

The McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities (McCarthy, 1972) are a series of normative tests designed for use with 2 1.2 to 8 1/2 year old children. The tests provide a measure of the child's general intellectual level as well as strengths and weaknesses in five developmental areas. Norms for the McCarthy were developed by assessing approximately 100 children at each age level. As well, validity was established by comparing children's scores on the McCarthy with other already established instruments such as the Stanford Binet (re.81 with McCarthy G.C.I.) and the Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence (r.62 to .11with three WPPSI I.O scores).

The five scales of the McCarthy Test are as follows: Verbal. Perceptual performance, Quantitative, Memory, and Motor. The scores from the Verbal, Perceptual performance and Quantitative Scales are combined to give the General Cognitive Index, an indication of the child's general intellectual functioning. This score reflects the child's ability, in comparison to other children of the same

chronological age, to integrate present knowledge and generalize it to the tasks in the Scales.

Criterion-Referenced Assessment

The criterion-referenced assessment format provided a behavioural assessment of the student's knowledge in five developmental areas. These developmental areas include: communication (receptive and expressive), pre-academic skills, motor skills, self help, and social skills. Unlike normative assessment (e.g. the McCarthy Scales) which compare one child's performance against other children's performance, the criterion-referenced assessment compares the child's performance to an established external standard or criterion on each item. The meaningfulness of this assessment, therefore, is in relation to whether the individual child can or cannot meet the standard. In addition this assessment format used a sequential introduction of prompts and guidance, such that information was provided with regard to the degree of intervention necessary in order to obtain a response from the child for any particular item. This information was directly applicable to teaching methods which may subsequently be employed by program staff.

The criterion referenced assessment device used in the present study was developed for the assessment of moderately to severely handicapped persons and contained a total of approximately 230 individual items across the five assessment areas(White, 1978).

Preschool Observation System

The Preschool Observation System (P.O.S.) was designed to measure the social interaction of handicapped children within integrated preschool settings.

The P.O.S. was designed following a survey of existing observation instruments. It was piloted by three research assistants at the Student's Union and Community Day Care over a two month period. During this time, a number of items were added, deleted or changed. The final version of the P.O.S. is described below.

The handicapped child's interaction with nonhandicapped peers, with handicapped peers, and with teachers was recorded. An analysis was made of the interaction patterns established between the handicapped child and others in the preschool environment (nonhandicapped children, and adults) regarding initiation and receipt of verbal and physical interaction, reinforcement of interchange, and modelling of appropriate social/language behavior. In addition to these specific behaviors, the P.O.S. provided information regarding the types of activities most frequently engaged in by the handicapped child.

The interactive behaviours of the handicapped child were recorded by a trained observer through the use of a set of codes and an automated data recording system. The specific behaviour codes and activity categories are listed in Table 1. Definitions for each are included in Tables 2 and 3.

TABLE 1

BEHAVIOUR CATEGORIES FOR MORE RECORDING

Non-Handicapped Peer	Teacher
ode	interpolicy
1. Initiate verbal interact	on to 11. Initiate verbal interaction teacher
peer	
2. Receive verbal interacti	from teacher
from peer	13. Imitates teacher
3. Imitates peer	14. Provides positive
1. Provides positive	reinforcement to teacher
reinforcement to peer	15. Receives positive
Receives positive	reinforcement from teacher
reinforcement from peer	16. Reprimanded by teacher
6. Reprimanded by peer	7
7. Initiates motor-gestura	interaction to teacher
interaction to peer	18. Receives motor-gestural
8. Receives motor-gestural	interaction from teacher
<pre>interaction from peer 9. Initiates physical/verb</pre>	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
9. Initiates physical/vero	aggression to teacher
aggression to peer O. Receives physical/verba	9 /h= 1
 Receives physical/verba aggression from peer 	aggression from teacher
aggression from peer	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
	Other
Handicapped Peer (H.P.)	<u>Other</u>
*	ion 31. Models for peer
21. Initiate verbal interac	
22. Receives verbal interac	33. Models for handicapped peer
23. Imitate H.P.	34. Compliance behaviour
24. Provides positive	J4. Comp = = most in
reinforcement H.P.	
25. Receives positive	
reinforcement H.P.	
 Reprimand by H.P. Initiates motor-gestura 	1
27. Initiates motor-gestura interaction to H.P.	*
28. Receives motor-gestura interaction from H.P.	
	n H.P.
 Initiates p/v aggression Receives p/v aggression 	from
H.P.	
n.r.	
Obse	vation Situation Code
Play Conditions	Other Conditions
Ol. non-social	06. group instruction
02. isolate	Q7. individual instruction
03, on-looker	08. unable to record

parallel

cooperative

04.

TABLE 2

BEHAVIOUR CATEGORIES: DEFINITIONS

<u>Verbal reinforcement</u> - includes questions, demands, and social conversation, responses.

<u>Positive reinforcement</u> - facial expression, physical contact, pat, hug, smile, tokens, having requests, or demands met, verbal praise, use of materials requested by child.

Reprimand - gestural or verbal reproof, scoldings, directions or admonitions to stop negative actions or behaviour and change to more positive actions.

Motor-gestural interaction - all movement that cause body contact with body of another child or teacher; waving or extending arms directly to another child or teacher; touching materials or toys being touched or held by another child or teacher.

Agression - hitting, beating, kicking, pinching, destroying, taking things belonging to others, threatening, bothering, can include verbal or physical aggression.

Compliance behaviour - follows instructions, complies to requests made by other children/staff.

Imitation - demonstrating a response similar to one emitted by another child, previously observed by the target child. The imitated behavior may be that of a handicapped or nonhandicapped peer or a teacher.

Modelling - displaying a behavior that is subsequently imitated.

TABLE 3

ACTIVITY CONDITIONS: DEFINITIONS

Non-social - not attending to or participating in social educational activities, nor involved in appropriate solitary play. Engaged in non-constructive, non-directive, unoccupied activities, self-stimulation, or inappropriate use of material.

Isolate play- playing apart from the group, making no effort to physically or verbally join group, not concerned with what others are doing.

On-looker- spectator, visually attending to group, maintaining visual, attention but not participating physically.

Parallel play playing with his/her own materials beside or facing another child; children are in close enough proximity to allow for observation of each others' activities (within 3 feet and in the same play area).

Co-operative play- playing with others, organization with common goals, mutual participation, working together, could include games and drama organized by children.

Group instruction- teacher or aide presenting information through direct instructions or indirect methods (provision of materials) to more than 2 individuals.

Individual instruction- target child only.

Unable to record - out of room

The Data Collection Device: MORE

To facilitate the analysis of the large volume of data involved in a study of more than 50 preschool handicapped children the Integration Study employed an electronic data collection system. The MORE, a product of Observational Systems Incorporated, Seattle, Washington, is a portable electronic data collection device with a built-in duration timer yielding an automatic time base. It has adequate storage capacity (9600 data characters) for a large amount of data and allows transfer of data from it to a cassette tape for storage.

The Social Acceptability Apperception Test (S.A.A.T.)

The S.A.A.T. is a projective test designed for school children in kindergarten to grade six. According to the authors (Berger, Hillyard, and Kozak, 1979) the S.A.A.T. was developed as a set of instruments through which a child's attitudes towards handicapped children can be indirectly observed. For younger children (kindergarten to grade 3) the S.A.A.T. used a drawing task which asked the children to draw themselves, a friend, and a handicapped child playing at recess time. The drawings were then scored for the presence or absence of certain characteristics (presence of helping relationship toward handicapped, physical sign of handicap, figure size, figure detail and emotional expression) or configurations (proximity of figures to each other, figure arrangement).

٠٠,٠

Questionnaires - Parent, Teacher, Aide

A. Parent questionnaire

The parent questionnaire was developed by the present author in order to assess the parents' perception of their child's participation in an integrated preschool program. The original draft of the questionnaire was piloted with the staff of the Student's Union and Community Day Care on the University of Alberta campus. Following receipt of their feedback, the parent questionnaire was modified to its final form which is described below. The parent questionnaire was divided into three parts: I -Family information- This section provided some general information on the socio-economic status of the families in the sample, as well as family constellation, and geographic stability. II -Diagnostic Information- This section provided. information regarding the parent's perception of their child's special needs, as well as how they first became aware of these needs and how these needs may have changed since the original diagnosis. III -Educational Information- This section explored the

III -Educational Information- This section explored the following areas:

- child's present program and previous participation in group programming;
- 2. parents' perception of child's emotional responses
 towards school;
- familiarity with program;
- 4. parents' satisfaction with child's individual program;

- 5. parents' involvement in the child's program;
- 6. suggestions from school for use at home, and conversely, responsible to suggestions from parents for use at school;
- 7. adequacy of communication with teacher;
- 8. adequacy of communication with other parents;
- 9. ways school could be more helpful;
- 10. adequacy of support services outside school;
- 11. effects of integrated program on child's functioning outside of school.

B. Teacher questionnaire

The teacher questionnaire was also developed by the author and piloted with the Student's Union and Community Day Care staff. It was hoped this questionnaire would tap a number of issues felt to be crucial to the integration process.

The following items were addressed in the teacher interviews:

- existence of a planning process with regard to placement of handicapped children;
- 2. emotional attitude of teacher towards integration;
- use of support services, primarily aides;
- training identification of pre-training or inservice received;
- 5. adequacy of training and identification of needs in this area;
- 6. individual programming for children, on a general level

and planning-who provides program;

- 7. planning-what does it encompass;
- 8. implementation and consultation who is available for consultation in above areas;
- 9. specific information regarding individual programming for children - individual programming, inclusion in total program, limitations of handicapped child, teaching strategies for concepts and skills, generalization, and socialization.
- 10. description of child's present interaction patterns,
 presence of behaviour problems, measuring progress how
 often (frequency)
- 11. description of parental involvement;
- 12. identification of needs;
- 13. means of meeting these needs;
- 14. advantages of integration.
- C. Aide questionnaire

The purposes, development and administration of the aide questionnaire were identical to those of the teacher questionnaire with the exception of Items 1, 2 and 3 which were omitted. It was intended that Item 9, which dealt with the specifics of the child's individual program, would only be completed by the person planning and implementing these programs for the handicapped child. This person varied from program to program, however, and was therefore included in both the teacher and the aide questionnaire.

D. Procedures

General procedures

As much as possible, in person contact was made with each program before data collection began. During these visits the various aspects of the study were discussed with program staff and the various instruments to be used were explained. The issue of parental consent was clarified and parental permission letters were left with staff to be circulated immediately preceding the first visit. When prior in person contact was not possible due to time or distance constraints, the same procedure was followed over the telephone and parental consent letters were mailed. In some instances, the initial in person contact was made with several programs at once. In any event, some type of contact, either face to face or telephone, was made with programs prior to the onset of data collection. Parental consent was also obtained by letter before data collection began.

Data collection was done by a team of trained researchers. As the data collection phase extended over an 18 month period, the specific individuals changed from time to time, however, consistency in procedures was insured by the project co-ordinator who remained the same throughout. Most of the researchers were university graduates, and many had previous related experience with handicapped children. Despite the fact that it was necessary to use a number of different individuals to collect data during the course of

the study, a concerted effort was made to insure the data collectors were well trained and reliable. Particular attention was paid to insure that observers using the P.O.S. had obtained inter-rater reliability of at least 75% before data collection began. The Student's Union and Community Day Care were most cooperative in allowing our research staff to train on the various instruments used in the study. Friend's children were also used in an effort to learn instruments such as the McCarthy and the criterion referenced assessment device. Also, if possible, research staff were chosen who were already familiar with many of the instruments to be used.

with the exception of the parent interviews, all other forms of data were collected within the program setting. A standard sequence was followed in the administration of the instruments. Usually two visits to the program were required to collect all types of data. The Preschool Observation System was administered first, as it was felt prior administration of the other instruments could contaminate the behaviour sample. Next the McCarthy Scales were administered to the handicapped child. This was usually all that was possible during the first visit. At the time of the first visit the teacher and aide-adestionnaires were left with program staff, unless they had already been left of the time of the time of the initial program contact.

During the second visit the criterion reference? seessment was administered to the handicapped thild if

necessary, and the teacher and aide questionnaires were collected. The S.A.A.T. was administered at the most convenient time for the teacher either on the first or second visit. Parent interviews were conducted separately either in the family home or in the program setting, whichever was mutually convenient for the parent and the interviewer.

Specific procedures for each of the introduction outlined below.

The McCarthy Scale of Children's Abilities

The McCorthy was administered by a train d executer in a quiet area of the day care/ECS envir amount feet administration was performed amnording to the day by disconstination instructions given in the test manual.

The Criterion Referenced Assessment Davi a

The C P A, was also administered by a trained vector in a quiet area within the ECS or day a resetting to a item, standard wording and standard relimination is specified to assess each individual limities.

The Ereschool Observation System

A thirty minute sample of the bodicapped this is interaction within the classroom was obtained using the MOPE. In most instances, data were collected on the same dosconsisting of 3, 10 minute observations requests to which interaction as made to select observation assuments in which interaction was made to select observation assuments in which interaction was both possible and representative tree play was often found to book results this cityonic the body true.

general play conditions were recorded continuously. This was accomplished by the use of a set of toggle switches which measure time clarged for the specific play conditions.

MORE data was collected by a number of research tear members. All were hominal in the use of the MORE and the observation system in reliability of data, ollection resolved or screeded in the other or moment libit the interest or FCS soltion.

The G A.A.T. was administered by the teacher to the entire group of students using a standardized set of instructions. The researcher was present during the test administration and children were instructed to give their completed drowings to be a All this point he swimmer asked the hild to inscribe to give the child of require very secondary the child of require were recorded to give the child of the c

O innpire

Control to musking the but a "vide mestion of the first of the between the respective of the first of the between the respective of the first of the subsequent conscion the respective of the first of the question of the respective of the constant of the present question of the west administrated to one or both perents during a present interview were feld wither this the respective of the constant of the present of the constant of the perents of

was most convenient for parents and researchers. The parent questionnaire was usually the final item in the data collection process.

F Reliability

Despite efforts to use well trained and skilled data collectors, the necessity to use a large number of individuals for this purpose over the course of the study made reliability a continuing concern. There was a particular concern about the observations collected using the P.O.S. The intention was that reliability data (as measured by having a second observer rate the same hehaviors' would be collected on 10% of all observations collected using the LO.S. Unfortunately, however, reliability data was collected on only 4% of all P.O.S. observations. Inter rater agreement was defined as the number of courrence agreements divided by the sum of occurrence ogreements and occurrence disagreements. Peliability data was collected by having a second trained chserver rate the same child's behaviors during a specified number of the minute time blocks. The beginning of the time blocks were indicated by a timer on the MORE. Whenever possible both observers recorded behaviors using a MODE however, on some occasions when a second MORE, was unamailable, the second observer recorded behaviors on a previously designed coding sheet. The reliability data ind: ated the intervolor reliability did not fall below

the 75% level established during the initial training period.

Limited reliability data were also collected on the McCarthy, the Criterion Referenced Assessment Device, and the S.A.A.T. In the case of the McCarthy and the Criterion Referenced Assessment Device, this data was obtained by having a second trained examiner score the same child's responses to the test items during the test administration. With the S.A.A.T., the second examiner scored the same children's drawings at a later date. Inter-rater reliability was calculated in the same manner as the P.O.S.: agreements divided by the sum of agreements plus disagreements. None of the inter-rater reliability collected in this manner fell below the 75% level.

V. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of the investigation will be presented in the order of the research questions posed earlier. Data regarding the handicapped children and their families will be reviewed first; then interaction patterns between the handicapped and nonhandicapped children will be examined; the nonhandicapped children's attitudes towards their handicapped classmates will be considered next; finally, programmatic features of integrated preschools will be summarized and discussed.

In the first and last section, the data has been compared according to the 4 subgroups within the sample: rural and urban ECS programs, and rural and urban day care programs. Data analysis varied according to the type of instrument used and the information collected. Where applicable, specific methods of analysis will be described.

A. The Handicapped Child

Demographic characteristics .

The information from the parental interview provided the demographic data presented here. Table 4 presents the children's ages, sex, number of siblings, family income level and the status of the family in terms of one or two parents and the length of time in their present residence.

As the table shows, generally the children's ages were 5 1/2 years with the rural day care children being somewhat younger at 4 years 11 months.

TABLE 4

DEMOGRAPHIC DATA OF EARLY CHILDHOOD SERVICES AND DAY CARE GROUPS

ariable	<u>E.C.S</u>	<u>. </u>	Day Care				
	Rural (n=12)	Urban (n=15)	Rural (n=11)	Urban (n=21)			
ge	W - Free Emo	x = 5yr 10mo M = 5yr 9mo	M = 5yr Omo	M = 5yr 7mc			
	\bar{x} F = 5yr 5mo	x F = 5yr llmo	x F = 4yr 9mo	x F = 5yr lm			
Sex &	M 62.5% F 37.5%	M 62.5% F 37.5%	M 58% F 48%	M 62% F 38%			
No. of Siblings	x = 1.83	$\bar{x} = 1.73$	$\bar{x} = 2.2$	$\bar{x} = .905$			
Income	$\bar{x} = 34,300$	$\bar{x} = 27,750$	x = 19,200	$\bar{x} = 23,800$			
l paren	0%	13%	18%	38%			
Families: 2 paren	100%	87%	82%	62%			
Length of time in current residence	$\dot{x} = 6.08 \text{yrs}$	x - 4.95yrs	x = 5.8yrs	ж - 2.7yrs			

[.] × = mean

With respect to ratio of boys to girls, generally there was a 60% male, 40% female distribution. The family constellation was similar for both groups of ECS children averaging about 1.8 siblings per family. Rural day care children have slightly larger families with 2.2 siblings whereas urban day care children had substantially fewer siblings averaging .91. The data suggest that the samples were generally similar except for the slightly younger age of the rural day care children and fewer siblings in the urban day care group.

The families' annual income was generally in the \$25,000 to \$30,000 range except for the rural day care families where the average income was below \$20,000. It is interesting to note that the rural ECS families had the highest annual average income of any of the groups. With respect to family status, both urban and rural ECS children had a high percentage of two parent families as did the rural day care group. A higher percentage of single parent families was found in urban day care program (38% single parent families). Family stability is suggested for both ECS groups and the rural day care group by the length of time spent in their current residence. The average stay in their present residence was 5 years for these groups. The shorter length of stay in their current residence (2.7 years) among ytban day care families suggests a slightly higher degree of transience in this group.

Parental education level is displayed in Table 5. As the table shows there was substantial similarity in the level of education of the rural and urban groups across both program types. The major difference between the urban and rural groups was a slightly higher level of education for the urban parents than seems to be the case for rural parents. The distribution of occupations for parents across several occupational categories is portrayed in Table 6. As can be seen from this table, the rural group and the urban group seemed to exhibit some similarity across each program. There was a higher incidence of working women in the urban day care sample than among the other three groups and a slightly higher incidence of professional employment in the urban populations. Otherwise, few differences were noticed between the groups in terms of geographical location or program with respect to parental occupation.

Diagnostic Data

The diagnostic data presented in Table 7 was also obtained from the parental interview. Thus, the diagnostic categories and the personnel making the first diagnosis are reported as perceived by parents but were not confirmed by professionals. However, the data do indicate family perception regarding the child's diagnosis and the age at which the diagnosis was identified for them. As can be seen in Table 7, the majority of children fell in the mild to moderate range of mental handicap with a few children exhibiting multiple handicaps and a few children exhibiting

TABLE 5

DEMOGRAPHIC DATA OF EARLY CHILDHOOD SERVICES AND DAY CARE GROUPS

PARENTS' EDUCATION

25%	<u>Ur</u> M 7%	P 21%	Ru M 9%	38%	<u>Urt</u> M 14%	9%
25%	7%	21%	9%	38%	14%	
	<u> </u>					
50%	58%	36%	36%	25%	208	
	i		}		30%	45%
0%	7%	7%	18%	25%	0%	9%
8%	14%	21%	18%	0%	29%	0%
17%	7%	7%	18%	12%	19%	27%
0%	7%	7%	0%	0%	0%	9%
	17%	17%, 7%	17%, 7% 7%	17% 7% 7% 18%	17% 7% 7% 18% 12%	17% 7% 7% 18% 12% 19%

M = Mother

F = Father

	•	E.C	<u>.s.</u>			Day C	are	V.
	Ru	ral	Urł	oan	Rur	al	Url	<u>ban</u>
	M	F	M	F	M	Ę	M	
(1) Self-employed	0%	54%	8%	7%	18%	33%	0%	25
(2) Professional/	8%	15%	8%	29%	18%	22%	14%	33
(3) Service prof	33%	0%	23%	36%	9%	11%	62%	8
(4) Tradesman	0%	23%	, 0%	29%	0%	22%	0%	33
(5) Homemakers, students,	58%	0%	62%	0%	55%	11%	24%	(
unemployed			t			•		4,

 $M_i = Mother$

F = Father

TABLE 7
DIAGNOSTIC INFORMATION

	•		<u>E.</u>	<u>c.s.</u>	
Day Care	-	,	• .		
		 	<u> </u>		
Type of Handicap	-	Rural n=16)	Urban (n=15)	Rural (n=12)	Urbai (n=21
A. Physical		1	0	0	3
Sensory	 •	0	3	1	1
C. Mild mental/psychological	7	5	10	4	3
D. Moderate/severe mental/psycholo	ogical	 . 8.	2	. 2	11
E. Multiply handicapped		2	. 0	5	3
Diagnosis made by: Professional (medical/education)		8	` 5	8	5
Non-professional (parent/other member)	family	8	10	4	16
Age at diagnosis (in months) 0-3 4-6 7-9 10-12 13-24 25-36 37 mo. & over unknown		1 0 0 2 2 3 4	1 0 0 1 1 4 4	4 2 0 0 0 1 0 5	4 1 1 5 4 0 1 5

sensory or physical handicaps such as hearing impairments or cerebral palsy.

The fact that parents (63% in day care sample and 68% in the ECS sample) or a close relative had been the first to notice their child's difficulties was a frustrating experience for many parents. Delays in their subsequent attempts to have the exact nature and prognosis of the condition identified was mentioned by one third of the respondents. Sample comments of responses they received from various medical and related professionals are listed below, while a more complete list is included in Appendix B.

-"not to worry";

-at 2 1/2 years, parent told by psychologist that child had Downs' Syndrome, parents had thought something wrong; -after adopting child, and suspecting a problem, told by social worker "to relax"; one year later child found to have hearing loss; -"pestered" many doctors, not considered bad enough: two convulsions and 1 year later, tests were done

Day Care
- at two noticed language delay, told "not to worry", child diagnosed at three;
-at 15 months parents noticed delay, doctors said "no problem", changed doctors, who referred child for further assessment, told child had c.p.;
- at 11 months noticed slow motor development, parents told child would "outgrow it", diagnosis made when family moved to Calgary;

The fact that the majority of children seemed to be first identified as having some special needs by a non-professional with presumably subsequent professional confirmation of a handicapping condition or special need is interesting. In terms of the child's age at the time of

diagnosis, it appears that in the ECS sample children were typically diagnosed after the first year of life whereas in the day care sample more children seemed to be diagnosed during the first year of life. This finding may reflect a number of factors:(1) a transition in our health service systems in that, diagnoses of children's special needs are now being made earlier whereas, the slightly older ECS children were less likely to have been diagnosed so early; (2) uneven availability of professionals in rural and urban areas, for example, there are fewer professionals in rural areas trained to make early diagnoses of handicapping conditions (3) the urban ECS group were mildly handicapped and thus more difficult to detect prior to school entry. It is interesting to note, however, that the types of handicaps and the persons identifying them tend to be fairly similar across the two programs and geographical regions

Normative Assessment

The McCarthy Scales of Ability were employed to establish the children's general cognitive level. The results of the McCarthy assessments for day care and ECS groups are presented in Table 8. This table portrays the following information for each of the four sub groups of children: average chronological age and range, the McCarthy general cognitive index, the McCarthy memory score and the McCarthy motor score all presented as an age equivalents in years. As well, a ratio of the McCarthy general cognitive index divided by the child's chronological age was computed

TABLE 8

MEANS AND RANGE FOR THE MCCARTHY SCALES

(GENERAL COGNITIVE INDEX, MEMORY, AND MOTOR AGES),

CHRONOLOGICAL AGE, AND THE RATIO OF GCI/CHRONOLOGICAL AGE

	E.C.S		Day Care			
•	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rur <u>al</u>		
:	Mean (Range) (n=16)	Mean (Range) (n=15)	Mean (Range) (n=21)	Mean (Range) (n=12)		
Chrono Logical Age (CA)-Years	5.88* (5 - 7-2)	5.41 (4.3 - 7.1)	5.40 (3.2 9.6)	4.91		
General Cognitive Index (GCI) Age equivalent	5.18 (4.0 · 6.8)	à.04 (2 9 5. ₽)↑	1.34 (2.5 6.8)*	3.76 (2.5° - 5.0)		
Ratio: GCI/CA	0.80	.76	. 78	18		
Memory Age Equivalent	4.96 (3.5 6.1)	3 76	0.07 (2 R 7.4)	3.75 (2.5 - 4.8		
Motor Age Equivalent	(1.95 (1.6 6.1)	3 86	7.12	3' ; 2 0 3' 33 3' 33		

The property of the range of the Age Equition

and averaged across the children in each group to give an indication of the students' level of development relative to their chronological growth. Thus, this ratio would approach 1.00 effiche student's general cognitive in lex (expressed on age equivalent) rose to approximate the child a chronological age.

As can be seen in Table 8, the children's citronological ages are similar except for the slightly counger rural day care group. General cognitive performance was highest for the urban ECS group. The rural ECS, urban and rural day care groups exhibited similar levels of cognitive development. The rural day fore group's mean general cognitive in extraordinately as they were in (n to be not at all to the other three samples.

The memory and motor ago equivalent scores for each group redulted in cirilar leads of performance. It is worthy that whildrous must redevelopment levels errors somewhat below the general cognitive development. I elsewage ring a personal antial motor delay that the bills were a biblic of the cognitive development because the memory of respective to the children. Towever, the contractions of the children.

ros of the general cognitive todes

The overall impression from this dotal suggests that students integrated into these programs exhibited a militar moderate delay in general cognition, memory and motor declarate along the viewing the range provided benestic ractions.

variance was present in these groups. The wide range obtained for these scores indicates the wide variability between the subjects within each of these groups.

In order to examine the functioning levels of the respective groups, a median test (Siegel, 1956) using the ratios of GCT/CA for each child were applied to the ECS and day care samples, the urban and rural samples, and within these samples, urban/rural ECS and urban/rural day care. The results showed a significant difference (p<.05) between the day are sample and the BCS cample. There were significantly more children below the mean in the day care sample then in the ECS sample. There was, however no significant difference between children in the urban progrems compared withm rural programs (BCS and day care combined). When the ECS sample was divided into urban and and rural sections. however, a difference was discovered (p<.05). There were significantly more thildren below the meant in the rural ECG group than express! Than the day rare sample was divided. there is no difference between children att i line urbar and you beging mes. To commarize; there were a si will and a greater number of lower functioning children in the one programs than ECS and a significantly greater . number of Jawas for Lianing shildren in resal ECS than urban "" i narning

he difference between the urban and rural ECS children in the some substantial interest. Much higher functioning in the urban programs than was

 \checkmark

generally the case in rural areas. This finding may be due to the larger number of specialized programs in urban settings for children with more severe handicapping conditions. However, in rural areas, students must obtain services from available programs such as the community kindergarten which typically are more generic in nature. Criterion-Referenced Assessment

The criterion referenced test was used to obtain an additional, more sensitive measure of the children's skills and competencies in five specific areas. This instrument was only administered if the child scored more than I standard deviation below the mean on the McCarthy Scales' general cognitive index. Thus, this assessment device was only used with lower functioning children to identify their skills and competencies in the areas of communication, cognitive development (terms) pre-academic), gross motor development,

These data re summarized for each of the four groups in T ble 9 high presents the average sub scale score for each group. This score was obtained by summing the students' score? (I or bottom testod; thus, the students' scores (from the 5) or each item administered were added together to obtain their total score. The average for the entire group was then computed using this measure. The second score in Table 9 is a ratio of the students' total score on that substest divided by the total possible score on that

TABLE 9

AVERAGE TOTAL SUB-SCALE SCORES AND RATIO OF TOTAL
OBTAINED/TOTAL POSSIBLE SCORES FOR EACH GROUP
ON THE CRITERION REFERENCED TEST

	E.C.	<u>s.</u>	Day
	Urban	Rural	Urban
ommunication		•	~~ <i>,</i>
Receptive Skills	200.6* (.98)**	200.9	185.8 (.77)
Expressive Skirls	171.6 (.82)	147.8	123.8
Pre-Academic			
Primary Skills	191.4	158.8 (.62)	156.0 (.61)
Advanced Skills	258.8 (.79)	155.1	162.4 (.58)
Gross Motor			• (
Primary Skills	125.0	124.4	118.9
Advanced Skills	1 45. 7 (.59)	155.4 (.63)	128.6
Social Competencies	167.4	160.6 (.87)	154.7 (.84)

subscale. Thus this proportion represents a measure of students performance on that sub-scale relative to a maximum performance. These ratios were then averaged across all group members. The average is presented in Table 9 in parentheses.

One of the first trends emerging from the data presented in Table 9 concerns the performance of the urban ECS children who scored slightly higher in the expressive communication and cognitive areas (pre-academic). In the other areas there is a consistency across groups in terms of total performance. These differences in performance between urban ECS groups and the other three groups are also confirmed when one looks at the ratios of the obtained scores over the total possible score. In both communication and cognition, the urban ECS group did obtain higher ratios indicating a higher level of performance on the items within the sub-tests than was the case for the other three groups of children.

A second interesting finding from these data is the high level of development of social skills exhibited by all students. The ratios presented in Table 9 for social competencies suggest that the students were performing at or near the maximum level of functioning in social skills as assessed by this test. These data may support the increased level of social functioning children exhibit when integrated into day care and kindergarten programs.

Also worthy of mention is the higher level of functioning in the communication receptive sub-scale. As can be seen from the total scores as well as from the ratios, all children exhibited a high level of performance in receptive language skills including the rural day care group which was the youngest group in the study.

Two major deficiency areas emerged on this test: the pre-academic area, including primary and advanced skills, and the advanced motor skill area. Pre-academic competencies include such skills as perceptual motor coordination, sequencing, writing, pre-reading skills, shape and colour discrimination, and early arithmetic skills. It was anticipated from the children's general functioning (as exhibited on the children, and the fact that the children being integrated were identified as special needs children, that these areas of functioning would in fact require some remediation. This is particularly the case for the rural ECS and the two day care groups. Many of the skills and competencies measured by this sub-scale are related to early school functioning and it is apparent these children would require some remedial assistance in order to function more adequately in the regular school program.

The advanced motor skill area includes such competencies as walking, going up and down stairs, jumping, coordination, dynamic balance, and use of equipment. Again, having considered the motor delays exhibited by the children on the McCarthy Scales, it is no surprise that the children

exhibited deficiencies in these areas. These areas would also provide several major objectives for remediation and teaching for children in integrated program settings.

Expressive language skills and self-help skills were two other areas that would be worthy of remedial attention.

In summary, the criterion-referenced assessment device provided a picture of the children as exhibiting strong receptive language competencies and a fairly high level of social skills. However; some assistance may be required with expressive language skills, pre-academic/cognitive development, motor skills, and self-help skills. The urban ECS group emerged as needing the least amount of assistance in all areas measured by this device.

In an effort to validate the criterion referenced assessment device, the ratio scores for each subscale shown in Table 9 were correlated with the age equivalent scores for the McCarthy GCI, motor and memory subscales. The Pearson product moment statistic was used to calculate these correlations, which are shown in Table 10. The more advanced sections of the criterion referenced device correlated significantly with the McCarthy scales, for example, the McCarthy Motor scale is significantly correlated with the Pre-academic advanced scale, and the Gross Motor advanced scale. This is not unexpected in view of the fact that both subtests share similar types of items with the McCarthy. Similarly, the Communication-expressive subscale is significantly correlated with both the McCarthy GCI and

TABLE 10

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN MCCARTHY
AND CRITERION REFERENCED ASSESSMENT SUBSCALES

,			
	GCI	MOTOR	MEMORY
Communication-	0.1887	-0.0441	0\2600
receptive	••••		1.
receptive	(n=34)	(n=34)	(n=34)
	P=0.143	P=0.402	P=0.069
	•		• 4
Communication-	0.4435	0.2057	0.5718
expressive			
T: ◆	(n=34)	(n=34)	(n=34)
	P=0.004,	P=0.122	P=0.000
Fre-academic-	0.1280	0.1423	0.0321
primary		(24)	(n=34)
•	(n=34)	(n=34)	P=0.429
•	P=0.235	P=0.211	P-0.429
_	0 1001	0.5166	0.2170
Pre-academic-	0.1881	0.5100	0.2170
advanced	(n=34)	(n=34)	(n=34)
	P=0.143	P=0.001	P=0.109
	1-0.143	. 0.00-	
Gross Motor-	-0.0246	-0.1090	-0.0721
primary			
br rimer 1	(n=34)	(n=34)	(n=34)
	P=0.445	P=0.270	P=0,343
Gross Motor-	0.0560	0.3150	-0.0310
advanced			
	(n=34)	(n=34)	(n=34)
	P=0.377	P=0.035	P=0.431
		. 0 2225	-0.0174
Self Help	0.1370	0.3335	-0.0174 (n=34)
	(n=34)	(n=34) P=0.027	•
,	P=0.220	P=U.U2/	· F-0.401
	0.2859	0.5803	0.4020
Social skills	(n=34)	(n=34)	(n=34)
	P=0.051	P=0.000	P=0.009
	F-0.03T		

subscales. Again this is not unexpected as the primary nature of these subtests responses is psycholinguistic.

Conversely, of interest, is the fact that the criterion referenced primary (or lower level) sections of

Communication receptive, Pre-academic primary, and Gross

Motor primary did not correlate with the McCarthy GCI,

Motor, and Memory Scores. It appears, therefore, that the

Criterion Referenced device is useful in providing

additional, more detailed information about the lower functioning children that is not available from the

McCarthy. Certainly, a significant number (1/6) of the children were unable to perform enough of the McCarthy items to obtain a normative score.

G. Interaction Patterns: Handicapped Children, Peers, and Teachers

As previously described in the Methods section, the Preschool Observation System (P.O.S.) was designed to measure the social interaction of handicapped children within integrated preschool settings. The P.O.S. consisted of a total of 34 behavior codes and 8 activity categories.

The data collected on the M.O.R.E. using the P.O.S. were analyzed in the following way. First, as 30 minutes of data were not obtained on all children, it was necessary to transform the data to make them comparable. Consequently the original frequencies and duration counts from the M.O.R.E. were transformed to frequency per minute per behavior, and

proportion of total time per play activity respectively. The means for these two sets of data were then calculated over all children. The results from this procedure are displayed in Table 11.

As can be seen some of the behaviors were either not observed at all or observed very infrequently. These are indicated by an asterisk in Table 11. Because these 22 behaviors had such low frequencies of occurrence, they were omitted from further analysis. The remaining 12 behaviors (shown in order of mean frequency of occurrence in Table 12 and the original 8 activity categories (shown in order of mean proportion of time spent in Table 13) were then analyzed using the Pearson product moment correlation. The demographic variables of age, sex, location and type of program, number of handicapped children in the program, and functioning level of the children (as indicated by their McCarthy score) were included in this analysis as well.

By examining the activity categories, one can get some idea of the way handicapped children in integrated settings spend their time. Almost half of the children's time (44 3%) was spent in isolate (21.5%) and parallel (22.8%) play. Onlooker and cooperative play were exhibited only 12.5% of the time. Further, group instruction outnumbered individual instruction 2 to 1 (23.9 to 12.9%). The children rarely (less than 2%) demonstrated those behaviors designated as nonsocial.

TABLE 11
MEAN OCCURRENCE BEHAVIORS PER MINUTE

CONTRACTOR CONT

```
Mean occurrence/minute
                 Behavior
                                                                = 1.124
B1 (Initiate verbal interaction to peer)
                                                                = 0.900
B2 (Receive verbal interaction from peer)
                                                                = 0.036
*B3 (Imitates peer)
                                                                = 0.010
*B4 (Provides positive reinforcement to peer)
                                                                = 0.004
B5 (Receives positive reinforcement from peer)
                                                              = 0.006
B6 (Reprimanded by peer)
                                                                = 0.323
B7 (Initiates motor-gestural interaction to peer
                                                               = 0.330
B8 (Receives motor-gestural interaction from peer
                                                               = 0.030
*B9 (Initiates physical/verbal aggression to peer)
*BlO (Receives physical/verbal aggression from peer)
                                                               = 0.020
                                                                = 1.152
Bll (Initiate verbal interaction to tchr.)
B12 (Receives verbal interaction from tchr.)
                                                                = 2.306
                                                                = 0.037
*Bl3 (Imitates tchr.)
*Bl4 (Provides positive reinforcement to tchr.)
                                                                = 0.037
                                                                = 0.110
B15 (Receives positive reinforcement from tchr.)
                                                                 0.009
*Bl6 (Reprimanded by tchr.)
                                                                 ₹ 0.168
 B17 (Initiates motor-gestural interaction to tchr.)
                                                                /= 0.467
 Bl8 (Receives motor-gestural interaction from tchr.)
                                                               / = 0.003
*Bl9 (Initiates physical/verbal aggression from tchr.)
                                                                = 0.002
*B20 (Receives physical/verbal aggression from tchr.)
                                                                 = 0.056
 B21 (Initiate verbal interaction to h.p.)
                                                                 = 0:044
 B22 (Receives verbal interaction from h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.001
*B23 (Imitates h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.000
*B24 (Provides positive reinforcement from h.p.)
                                                                = 0.000
*B25 (Receives positive reinforcement from h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.000
*B26 (Reprimanded by h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.018
 *B27 (Initiates motor-gestural interaction to h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.010
*B28 (Receives motor-gestural interaction from h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.000
*B29 (Initiates p/v aggression to h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.000
*B30 (Receives p/v aggression from h.p.)
                                                                 = 0.000
*B31 (Models for peer)
                                                                 = 0.000
*B32 (Models for tchr.)
                                                                 = 0.001
*B33 (Models for handicapped peer)
                                                                 = 0.138
*B34 (Compliance Behavior)
          behaviours either not observed orobserved infrequently;
          omitted from further analysis.
```

TABLE 12

MOST FREQUENT OCCURRING BEHAVIORS

	Behavior Mean occurrenc	e/minute
B12	(Receives verbal interaction from teacher)	= 2.306
B11	(Initiate verbal interaction to teacher)	= 1.152
ві	(Initiate verbal interaction to peer)	= 1.124
В2	(Receive verbal interaction from peer)	⇒ 0.900
B18	(Receives motor-gestural interaction from teacher)	= 0.467
В8	(Receives motor-gestural interaction from peer)	= 0.330
В7	(Initiates motor-gestural interaction to peer)	= 0.323
B17	(Initiates motor-gestural interaction to teacher)	= 0.168
B34	(Compliance behavior)	= 0.138
B15	(Receives positive reinforcement from teacher)	= 0.110
B21	(Initiate verbal interaction to handicapped peer)	= 0.056
B22	(Receives verbal interaction from handicapped peer)	= 0.044

TABLE 13
PLAY ACTIVITIES

Activity	Proportion of t	ime spent
	Mean	Variance
P6 (group instruction)	0.239	= 0.039
P4 (parallel)	0.228	= 0.045
P2 (isolate)	0.215	= 0.250
P7 (individual instruction)	0.129	= 0.016
P5 (cooperative)	0.080	= 0.021
P8 (unable to record)	0.060	= 0.008
P3 (onlooker)	0.045	= 0.005
Pl (nonsocial)	0.014	= 0.004

Turning to the specific behavioral patterns, the absence of any imitiating behaviors on the part of the handicapped children is of note. This finding is important since one of the major reasons for including handicapped children within regular programs is to provide the epportunity to learn by imitating more advanced peers. The absence of 'negative' interaction between the handicapped children and other children, as well as between the handicapped children and their teachers is also of interest. It appears, therefore, that at worst, the general tone of the environment can be described as neutral, and in view of the reasonably high occurrence of positive reinforcement from the teachers, could probably be described as positive. Interaction among handicapped children is also notably absent. However, it is important to point out that one third of the programs had only one handicapped child enrolled thur precluding interaction among handicapped children. The most frequent behavior dyad is verbal interaction between the handicapped child and their teacher. The teacher initiates verbal interaction however, twice as often (2.306/minute) as does the handicapped child (1.152 minute). The much higher amount of interaction between the handicapped children and their teachers, than between the two groups of children is in keeping with the findings of previous researchers (Guralnick, 1981; Kennedy et al., 1976; Sinson & Wetherick, 1981). Conversely, the handicapped child is more likely to initiate verbal interaction to their peers (1.124 compared

with 900/minute) than to receive verbal interactions from their peers. Regardless of direction, the four most (requent behaviors were verbal in nature, indicating the most frequent mode of interaction for this group of children was linguistic. Nonspeech (motor-gestural) interaction characterized the next four most frequent behaviors, however, their frequency was much lower ranging from 467/minute to .168/minute.

with the behavior patterns appeared to be age, type of program, and functioning on the McCarthy. Por example, age was highly correlated with compliance behavior, that is, older children were more compliant. Group instruction correlated highly with type of program, 'hat is, children in ECS programs spent significantly more of their time in group instruction than did children in day care. Individual instruction correlated neither with functioning level on type of program. Functioning level as indicated by the McCarthy correlated positively with competative play and negatively with isolate play; that is, higher functioning children displayed more competative play, and less is claim play.

shown in Tables 14a,b & c revealed some interesting patterns. (All correlations are displayed together in Appendix C). Initiating verbal interaction with a peer, for example, correlated highly with receiving verbal interaction

Table 14(a)
Correlation Matrix,

Demographic Variables,

Behavior and Play Activities

Veriables	Age	Program	McCarthy	- B ₁₁	B ₁₂	B ₁₅	B ₁₇	B ₁₈
+.7				 	P7			•
+.6	1			B ₁₂				
+.5	. B ₃₄	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		P7	B ₃₄ B ₁₈			
+.4		P ₆					i	P7
+.3			P ₅			B ₁₇		
+.2	B ₁₂ P ₆ B ₁₅ P ₇	B ₂₁	B ₁ B ₂	B ₁₇ B ₃₄	B ₁₅ B ₁₇	P ₇ P ₃	B ₁₈ P ₇	
0								
21	McC	B ₂	B ₁₂ B ₁₈ B ₁₅ P ₂	P ₃ P ₄	McC P ₄	McC	,	McC
3		P ₄		-	P ₅			
4								
5								ļ
6	•							<u> </u>
7			-	†				Ţ

Bil initiares verbal interaction to teacher

Big receive methal interaction from teacher

P₁₅ receiver constrive reinforcement from teacher

Biy initiate motor/gentural interaction to teacher

The country of the property of the second for the second form

Table 14(b)

Correlation Matrix,

Demographic Variables,

Behavior and Play Activities

Variables	. B ₁	B ₂	B ₇	В8	B ₂₁	B ₂₂	B ₃₄
+.7	B ₂						
+.6							
+.5	P ₄	B ₈			B ₂₂	B ₂₁	Age, B ₁₂
+.4	B ₇	P4	P4	$\left[\cdot \right]$			
+.3							P7
+.2	B ₈ P ₅	B ₇ P ₅	Вв	P ₄	в ₅ в ₆	P ₅	B ₁₁
0							_
2	B ₁₂ p ₃ P ₇	B ₁₂ P ₆	P2 P3	P ₂			
3	B ₁₈ P ₂	B ₁₈ P ₂ P	'3				
4							
5	7			•			
6	3						
7							

- B, initiates verbal interaction to peer
- B2 receives verbal interaction from peer
- R7 initiates motor/gestural interaction to peer
- Bg receives motor/gestural interation from page
- B21 initiates verbal interaction to h.p.
- B_{22} receives verbal interaction from h.p.
- F34 compliance behavior

Table 14(c)

Correlation Matrix

Demographic Variables,

Behaviors and Play Activities

•	₩		*				
Variables	P ₁	P ₂	, P ₃	P ₄	" P ₅	P ₆	P7
+.7							B ₁₂
+.6			7	`			
+.5		<i>;</i>		B ₁ B ₂		7	B ₁₁
+.4						Prog.	·B ₁₈
+.3				B ₇	Mc		B ₃₄
+.2			B ₁₅	B ₈	B ₁ B ₂ B ₇ B ₂₂	Age B ₂₁	Age B ₁₅ B ₁₇
0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
02		Mc B ₇ B ₈	B1 B ₂ B ₇ B ₁₁	B ₁₁ B ₁₂	P ₂	B ₂ P ₂	B ₁ P ₄ P ₅
3	•	B ₁ B ₂		Prog	B ₁₂		
4						P4	
5					•		
6							
7	٠.						<u> </u>

P₁ Nonsocial

P₂ Isolate

P₃ On-looker

P₄ Perallel

P₅ Cooperative

P₆ Group

P₇ Individual

from a peer. Similarly initiating verbal interaction to a peer correlated highly with initiating a motor/gestural action to a peer. That is, children who made verbal initiations were more likely to make motor/gestural initiations to peers as well as receive verbal interactions from peers. This suggests that those handicapped children who did initiate behaviors were more likely to receive behaviors, both verbal and motor-gestural from their nonhandicapped peers. Also those children who made verbal initiations were more likely to make motor-gestural initiations.

Initiating and receiving verbal interaction from peers both correlated with parallel play; as parallel play increased so did verbal interaction on the part of the handicapped child. Also, receiving verbal interaction from peers correlated with receiving motor/gestural interaction from peers. Again children selected by the nonhandicapped peers as targets of their verbal interactions were more likely to be the recipients of motor/gestural interaction.

Verbal and motor/gestural interactions with teachers on the other hand, correlated with individual instruction. The receiving of verbal interaction from the teacher correlated highly with the giving of verbal interaction to the teacher and also with receiving motor/gestural interaction from the teacher. Therefore, the more often the child initiated verbal interchanges to the teacher, the more often they received verbal interaction, and similarly, children who

received verbal interactions from the teacher were more likely to receive motor/gestural interaction from the teacher.

Some of the more interesting relationships were analyzed further using correlated and uncorrelated T-tests. Three groups of handicapped children were created by assigning them to the top, middle, and bottom thirds of the sample on the basis of the ratio of their McCarthy GCI age equivalent/chronological age. The higher functioning children (mean ratio of age equivalent on McCarthy GCI/chronological age = .973) displayed significantly more co-operative play (p<.01) while the lower functioning group (mean ratio of age equivalent on McCarthy GCI/chaonological age = .550) displayed significantly more isolute play (p<.05). Children in the higher functioning group interacted significantly more with their peers (p<.05) initiating more (p<.05) and receiving more (p<.05), (verbally and motor/gesturally). Whereas the children in the lower functioning group interacted more frequently with their teachers although this difference did not reach statistical significance. They did receive significantly more * interactions from teachers than their higher functioning peers, although there was no differences in initiating interactions with teachers between the two groups. *

Further, although there was no difference in the average number of initiations with peers compared with teachers, the handicapped children initiated significantly

more interactions (verbal and motor/gestural) than they received from their nonhandicapped peer group (p<.001). Conversely, although there was no difference in the average number of receiving behaviors from peers compared with teachers, the handicapped children received significantly more interaction from teachers than they initiated (p<.001). Further, the average amount of teacher interaction (all teacher behaviors) is higher than the average amount of peer interaction (all peer behaviors), although this difference did not reach significance at the .05 level (p<.10).

In summary, the major findings of the observational data appear to be the following. The predominant mode of interaction for this total group of handicapped children is verbal. There was no difference in the level of verbal interaction between the higher and lower functioning groups. The higher functioning children, however, displayed significantly more co-operative play and interactive behaviors with peers, whereas the lower functioning children displayed significantly more isolate play and more interactive behaviors with teachers, although only the receiving behaviors were significantly greater. Interestingly, the handicapped children were more likely to initiate interaction with their non handicapped peers than the reverse. These findings are consistent with studies such as Guralnick's (1981) which have found that the more severe the nature of the handicapping condition, the lower the amount of interaction with nonhandicapped peers.

H. Non-handicapped Peers: Attitudes

The Social Acceptability Apperception Test (S.A.A.T.) was utilized to obtain information regarding attitudes of the nonhandicapped children towards their handicapped peers.

The S.A.A.T. was administered to children in both urban and rural ECS programs and within five of nine urban day care centres. The S.A.A.T. was not given at the remaining 4 urban and 4 rural day care centres as it was felt the children were too young to be able to complete the drawings. Thus, from 18 ECS programs and 5 day care programs, 465 drawings were obtained. A considerable number (one/quarter) of drawings contained figures that were unrecognizeable, and thus unscoreable. The results discussed below, therefore, represent 75% of the total drawings collected.

The drawings were scored according to six categories, previously described in the Methods section. In addition these findings were compared to data obtained from kindergarten children in a previous investigation (Berger, 1980); the children in the earlier study were predominantly urban, and the school they attended housed a program for dependent handicapped children from 5 to 18 years of age.

Table 15 presents the data for the above categories. This data includes both groups in this study and kindergarten children from two Edmonton schools in which programs were initiated for the multiple dependent handicapped (termed the RDH sample).

PABLE 15

PERCENTAGE OF SAAT DRAWINGS EXHIBITING SPECIFIC CHARACTERISTICS FOR DAY CARE (n=41) and E.C.S. (n=304) CHILDREN AND FOR THE RDH STUDY KINDERGARTEN CHILDREN

	rj.	Ďay Care	Early Childhood Services	R.D.H. (ECS)
roximity;	*4	,,,	***	73
CONTRACT &	Jr	3 1	, , , , , ,	
Touching	•	ૃ2%	7%	10%
Close		37%	28%	54%
Distant "	12 m . 1	41%	52%	20%
DI SCORE		<u> </u>		
lusters:	3		• .	
	÷ .			3.50
Friend Closer Handicapped	•	37%	50%	,15%
Me Closer handicapped	•	38%	22%	20%
Cluster		0%	8%	15%
Couples		2%	1%	0%
Other		20%	14%	, 4.0%
Other	 	·		
Helping Relationship	•	7%	2%	OR
V				
	*	24%	28%	509
Physical Sign, of Handicaps	,	24%	28%	
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size:	,	٠;		ď
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others		15%	18%	<i>∯</i> 20'
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others	ji	15% 17%	18% 22%	20 ⁹ 12 ⁹
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size:		15% ¹ 17% 5%	18% 22% 13%	20° 12° 12
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger		15% 17%	18% 22%	20° 12° 12
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large		15% ¹ 17% 5%	18% 22% 13%	20 ⁹ 12 ⁹ 12
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail:		15% 17% 5% 54%	18% 22% 13% 45%	20° 12° 12 37
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me		15% 17% 5% 54%	18% 22% 13% 45%	20° 12° 12° 37°
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater		15% 17% 5% 54% 34%	18% 22% 13% 45%	20° 12° 12° 37
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater Greater for Handicapped		15% 17% 5% 54% 34% 12% 2%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 18%	20° 12° 12° 37°
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater		15% 17% 5% 54% 34%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 18%	20° 12° 12° 37°
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater Greater for Handicapped		15% 17% 5% 54% 34% 12% 2%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 18% 7%	20° 12° 12° 37°
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater Greater for Handicapped Equal Detail Expression:		15% 17% 5% 54% 34% 12% 2% 34%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 18% 7%	20° 12° 12° 37° 14° 36° 36° 35°
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater Greater for Handicapped Equal Detail Expression: Me Smiling		15% 17% 5% 54% 34% 12% 2% 34%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 18% 7% 57%	20° 12° 12° 37 14 36 30 35
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater Greater for Handicapped Equal Detail Expression: Me Smiling Me and Friend Smiling		15% 17% 5% 54% 34% 12% 2% 34%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 15% 18% 7% 57%	20° 12° 37° 37° 34° 36° 30° 35°
Physical Sign of Handicaps Size: Me Larger others Me and Friend larger Handicapped large Equal Size Detail: Greater for Me Me and Friend Greater Greater for Handicapped Equal Detail Expression: Me Smiling		15% 17% 5% 54% 34% 12% 2% 34%	18% 22% 13% 45% 15% 15% 18% 7% 57%	20° 12° 12° 37 14 36 36 35

Generally, there is some consistency across the three samples and some noteworthy findings and differences were noted in the following areas:

Physical signs - About 1/4 of the day care and ECS sample drew physical signs of handicap whereas the RHD sample had physical signs in 50% of the drawing; this phenomenon may be due to the more severely physically handicapped children in those schools;

Detail - The day care sample had a greater detail for themselves than for the others; perhaps a reflection of their younger age and more "egocentric" perception; Clusters - The day care sample had a greater percentage of drawings with themselves and their friends close to the handicapped than the other groups;

<u>Proximity</u> - The day care and ECS samples portrayed themselves close to the handicapped child less frequently than was the case with the RDH sample.

The consistency of the three groups in portraying the children in clusters, with few stigmata, equal size and detail of the figures and generally all figures smiling, suggests an overall positive accepting attitude on the part of the nonhandicapped peers towards the handicapped children in the programs. These findings bode well for the general acceptability and positive perceptions by the children of their peers with special needs.

I. Program Characteristics: General Program Information;
Staff and Programming Characteristics; and Parental
Involvement

General Program Information

Specific information about each of the four program types is provided in Table 16; these data provide a perspective on the type of programs in which the children were encolled. This information was obtained from the parental interviews previously described. As can be seen in the table, the children were generally in the program for 13 months or longer except for urban ECS programs where children had an average stay of 8 months. Thus it appears that children with special needs are spending at least two academic years in the preschool programs in which they are integrated.

In the rural programs, this was generally the first group experience for the children whether it was day care or Early Childhood Services. In the urban programs, however, it was notable that the current program was not the first group experience for the majority of the children. In the day cares about 60% of the children attended full-time and 40% part-time in both urban and rural setting.

Group size in the programs was generally consistent except for rural day care which seemed to be slightly higher with an average of 21.5 children per group. As well the average number of handicapped children in the group was generally around 1.5 again except for rural day care which seemed to have an average of three children with special

TABLE 16
PROGRAM INFORMATION

	E.C	<u>E.C.S.</u>		Day Care		
	Rural	<u> Urban</u>	Rural	Urban		
Length of time in , program (in ,	- x = 14.08	- x = 8.00	- ж = 13.36	- x = 20.0		
months) First groexperience	yes 83% no 17% a	yes 13% no 87%	yes 73% no 27%	yes 19% no 81%		
Part-time Attendance: Pull-time	n/a	n/a n/a	44% 56%	36% 64%		
Group size	- x' = 18.75	- x = 16.19	- x = 21.5	x = 15.3		
Number of handicapped children per group	x = 1.70	x = 1.64	$\bar{x} = 3.00$	$\bar{x} = 1.47$		
Ratio (handicapped/ non- handicapped) per group	•					
< 1:5 < 1:10 < 1:15 < 1:20 > 1:20	0 8 6 1	6 4 0 2 4	3 7 2 0	2 11 4 4 0		

needs per group. The ratio of handicapped to nonhandicapped children was generally 1 to 10 or 1 to 15. This ratio seemed to be the optimal range chosen by programs for integrative experiences. Thus, there typically were a greater number of nonhandicapped children with anywhere from one to four handicapped children integrated into the program.

Staff and Programming Characteristics

In order to examine the staff's view and attitudes toward integration, personnel preparation, actual programming activities, and parental involvement the questionnaires described in the Methods section was employed with the teachers and aides in each program. Responses will be presented in the following sequence: ECS teachers, ECS aides, day care teachers, and day care aides.

ECS Teachers

Twenty one ECS teachers responded in all, eleven from urban and ten from rural programs. Table 17 provides a summary of the ECS teachers' responses to each of the questionnaire items. This table will be referred to when reviewing responses of the teachers to each item.

1. Reasons for Integration.

A number of reasons were cited by teachers supporting the integration of special needs children into ECS programs. Three major areas seemed to encompass the reasons provided.

TABLE 17

ECS TEACHER QUESTIONNAIRE RESULTS

	<u>Urban</u>		Rural	
	Yes	No/NoR*	Ŷes N	io/Nor'
Consultation Prior to Enrolment	27%	73%	70%	30%
Positive Teacher Attitude towards Handicapped Child	81%	19\$	90%	10%
Use of aides in classrooms for 1 - 1 instruction	45%	55%	80%	20%
Teacher Training for Integration Was Adequate	27%	73%	30%	70%
Individualized Programs Prepared for Handicapped Child	50%	50%	100%	0%
Restrictions for Handicapped Child from Total Program Involvement	, 27%	73%	40%	60%
Planning for Student Generalization	81%	19%	90%	10%
Teaching the Handicapped Child Socialization Skills	54%	46%	70%	30%
Handicapped Child Exhibited Behaviour Problems	64%	36%	40%	60%
Use of Student Observations and Assessment	64%	.36%	90%	10%

no/no response

rirst, it was felt that benefits to the handicapped child were important. These included remaining at home, not travelling long distances, being able to learn from peers, and learning within normal settings.

Second, integration benefited nonhandicapped children by developing tolerance, helping them learn about individual differences, and helping them learn to care for someone with special needs.

Third, parents of children in integrated programs benefited. It was felt that the parents of nonhandicapped children learned how to deal more effectively with their children's view of handicapped individuals, whereas the parents of the handicapped child developed an increased and enhanced view of their child's potential.

Disadvantages mentioned by both groups included an absence of trained personnel, reluctance on the part of teachers to integrate handicapped children, poorly trained aides, and the lack of works to prepare persons for this type of work.

Criterion of Successful Integration.

A number of alternative strategies were used to judge successful integration. The development of successful social skills such as playing with other children was one key criterion used in rural programs to judge the success of integration. Several urban programs mentioned the attitude of handicapped children as an

important measure of success for integration. Other indices of success included academic success, social and emotional development, task completion, program operation, and adequacy of the program for nonhandicapped children.

Consultation Prior to Enrolment. 3.

Most rural teachers (75%) but fewer urban ECS teachers (27%) were consulted prior to the enrolment of the handicapped child in their program. The range of prior notice in rural programs varied from a minimum of one month to an unspecified longer period; prior notice in the urban settings extended from one week up to three months.

Teacher Attitudes.

In both rural and urban programs positive teacher attitudes were found towards handicapped children in their programs (82% in urban programs, 90% in rural programs), Most commonly, personal benefit to the teacher was cited as a reason for positive attitudes.

The Use of Aides.

The presence of aides in the classroom varied considerably between urban and rural settings. In urban settings, only two of eleven teachers had special needs aides, whereas for rural programs all teachers had a special need aide. In the rural group, 80% provided one to one instruction with the handicapped student. Other' additional aide activities included teaching such

self-help skills as toilet training and eating.

Different administrative organization between urban and rural programs seemed to be part of the reason for the difference in the presence and use of aides. For example, although most urban teachers did not have "special needs aides" they had kindergarten aides even in programs where the class enrolment was very low. The role of the kindergarten aide, however, was different than the special needs aides' role.

Teacher Preparation for Integration.

Two questions at this point in the interview focused upon the amount and adequacy of teacher preparation. It should be pointed out that these questions failed to differentiate between preservice teacher preparation and inservice teacher preparation. Thus no distinction can be drawn between these two types of teacher training.

Teacher preparation in both urban and rural areas varied quite substantially from a few inservice courses through correspondence courses, workshops, to actual university preparation. However, teacher preparation seemed minimal in both groups. In the urban sample, for example, one teacher mentioned having an ECS workshop as a source of training, 2 teachers mentioned that they had university courses as a source of on-thejob training and 9 teachers mentioned that they had no pre-training related to special needs children whatsoever.

As can be seen in Table 17, teachers felt generally that their preparation was inadequate for working with children with special needs. In the urban sample 73% of the teachers felt their training was inadequate while 70% of the rural teachers felt their training was inadequate. Generally speaking the teachers felt that more preparation was necessary. Specific content areas mentioned for inclusion in training programs included problems of handicapped children, discipline and behaviour modification, testing for prescriptive program development, observation, teaching strategies with children, and goal setting.

7. Individualized program preparation

Individualized program planning constituted a crucial dimension of integration for children with special needs. The development of an individual program for the child insures the differentiation of instructional needs and objectives for the special needs child. As well, on-going review of individual programs provides a means of accountability in evaluating the type and quality of service being provided to the child with special needs within integrated settings.

Individualized programs were prepared for special needs children in 50% of the urban programs and 100% of the rural programs. Both special needs aides as well as teams including the teacher, an aide, and other professionals were involved in the program preparation.

Interestingly, 60% of the rural program staff indicated that the special needs aide planned and implemented the individual programs goals for students, whereas in the urban sample 80% of the teachers responded that they both planned and implemented program goals and activities.

It was also found that a more diverse group of personnel was involved in planning programs in the rural sample than in the urban area. Rural program operators indicated that many sources assisted them in developing programs for their children including: private consultants, speech therapists, hospitals and the university.

8. Goals.

We attempted to determine if goals were established for the handicapped children. However, this question was worded in such a way that it was impossible to differentiate between goals, materials, and specific programs used to obtain these goals. Each of these elements was not examined individually, therefore the results are presented in terms of the general components mentioned by program personnel. With respect to goals, several developmental areas were mentioned as targets of programming including: motor(fine and gross motor), language, cognition, self help, socialization and kindergarten skills.

With respect to materials and programs, various programs were mentioned: the Portage Guide, Peabody Language Kit, the Meachem Seriés, DISTAR, WISP and POTOMAC,

As well, a toy lending library service was employed in one program and the "Vision up" Series was employed in a program with a visually handicapped child.

9. Program Restrictions.

Several teachers felt that the handicapped children were restricted from full participation in their programs. It was found that 40% of the rural teachers and 27% of the urban teachers (See Table 17) felt that their handicapped child was restricted from total program involvement.

10. Specific Teaching Strategies.

Several questions dealt with the location and manner in which teaching was carried out. In the rural sample, strategies included teaching at the child's level, assess-teach-review, modelling, incidental teaching, work-sheets, drill, and practicing within the group, skills that had been taught in one-to-one situation. Locations for instruction included the regular classroom, learning centres, practical situations, and one to one teaching areas.

The urban sample exhibited much fewer diversity of teaching strategies. The strategies mentioned by urban teachers included extra assistance with regular lessons,

the use of special examples, teaching through regular program with special oral and visual presentation and demonstrations. Thus, it appears that the urban program personnel employed the large group instructional format more frequently than the rural programs.

11. Planning for Generalization.

It was interesting and indeed reassuring to note that many programs planned specifically for generalization of the child's skills and competencies to natural environments. Urban teachers (81%) and rural teachers (90%) both planned for student generalization. This planning involved assisting the child to use in the home and in the community the skills being learned in school. Methods of accomplishing these objectives included sending materials home to parents, practice in larger groups, and practice during field trips. The use of a communication book or notes to parents were most often mentioned as a vehicle of communication between home and school.

12. Teaching Socialization.

The development of social skills also seemed to be a priority in many school programs. At least half of the urban teachers (54%) and most rural teachers (70%) actively planned instruction of socialization skills. Strategies for teaching skills in this area included putting the child into a larger group, remediating child-specific, deficient skills, and having discussions

with nonhandicapped children about assisting the handicapped child interacting with the group; the use of partner days and cooperative games were other, often used strategies. Reinforcing nonhandicapped children for cooperative activities with the handicapped child was also mentioned frequently.

However, several teachers from both samples felt that the handicapped child did experience some difficulty in interacting with their peers. These problems stemmed from the child being primarily engaged in parallel play, having slow speech interfering with their social interaction, and not initiating social interchange. Generally speaking, less than 37% of the teachers in both samples felt that their handicapped students interacted well with the nonhandicapped children. This finding is consistent with the literature in the field regarding the interaction patterns of nonhandicapped and handicapped children within integrated settings.

13. Frequency of Behaviour Problems.

The handicapped children in both urban and rural ECS programs seemed to exhibit behaviour problems fairly frequently. In urban programs, many teachers (64%) felt the handicapped students exhibited behaviour problems while 40% of the rural teachers felt the same. Typical problems included passivity, aggression, withdrawal, attention seeking, temper tantrums, inattentiveness,

uncooperative behaviour, and frequent mood changes.

14. Program Assessment.

A wide variety of methods and procedures were described as being used for assessment of the special needs child's program within integrated ECS programs. In urban programs, 64% of the teachers mentioned using specific observation and assessment procedures whereas 90% of the rural program teachers mentioned using specific procedures. The types of measures included, anecdotal records, picture files, discussions, recording daily lessons, and progress noted on a card file. Frequency of assessment varied substantially across programs from daily observation through weekly observations, monthly assessments and semi-annual assessments. Some urban programs mentioned the use of outside specialists to assess the children.

15. Parent Involvement

Approximately half the teachers in ECS programs (urban 54%; rural 58%) met with parents of special needs, children once a month or less. No clear pattern of the frequency of parent contact emerged.

Only one rural program held meetings for the parents of their special needs children. Several programs commented that a meeting for parents of special needs children was inappropriate as the children's handicapping conditions were quite different.

Most rural teachers (80%) and 67% of urban teachers felt parents were involved in their programs. The three most frequent types of parental involvement were volunteering in the classroom, working on home program, and observing in the classroom. Other types of involvement included program administration, providing materials, and goal planning.

ECS teachers in both urban and rural areas felt parents needed help in three areas: behaviour management, reassurance and support, and ideas for home programming. Other specific areas parents needed help with included arranging funding, specific ideas for speech and language, small muscle coordination, and self initiation.

E.C.S. Aides

The total number of respondents was nine; however, seven of these were from rural programs and two from urban programs. All rural programs (7/7) had special needs aides, whereas only 18% (2/11) of urban programs had special needs aides. It is impossible, therefore, to draw any meaningful comparisons between rural and urban ECS aides (special needs), or to make any statements about the functioning of urban ECS aides in general.

Reasons for integration.

Advantages of integration given by ECS aides focused on the potential benefits for the handicapped learner. ECS aides felt the handicapped child learns he can play with peers, learns more easily from peers, and is treated like a normal child rather than a handicapped child.

2. Criteria for successful integration.

Informal observation of the handicapped child's daily accomplishments, ability to play with other children, and the other children's reaction to the handicapped child were all given as ways of measuring a successful integration experience.

3. Aide Preparation for Integration.

In the rural sample pretraining for aides basically consisted of related work experience. Inservice opportunities included the correspondence course at the University of Lethbridge, various workshops, visits with consultants, and post secondary courses. In the urban sample, one aide had no training relating to special needs children, and the other was a trained teacher with related work experience.

Half of the aides (rural and urban - 56%) felt.

their training was inadequate. They felt more workshops
and seminars should be available as well as increased

contact with support personnel.

4. Individualized program preparation.

Individual programs were prepared for the handicapped child in 78% of the instances. These were planned by the aide alone or some combination of the aide and another professional (teacher or consultant).

Generally speaking, the same person who planned the program also implemented it. Occasionally the program was planned by a consultant and implemented by the aide. Resources for program planning and development included special education consultants, specialized professionals (speech, occupational and physiotherapists), teachers, hospitals and health units, and parents.

5. Goals.

Programs goals included language, cognitive, motor and social functioning, as well as behaviour and emotional development and self help skills.

Materials used-included the following: Specific tumbling equipment, PORTAGE PROGRAM, POTOMAC, TRECK, WISP, DISTAR, MEACHEM series and VISION-UP KIT.

6. Program Restrictions.

Only two (22%) respondents felt the handicapped child in their program was restricted from regular program activities. Restricted activities included story telling, show and tell, formal arithmetic, reading, and some winter activities.

7. Specific Teaching Strategies.

Most rural ECS aides reported that the handicapped child spent 20% or less of their time in one to one instruction. The rest of their time was spent in the regular program. Specific strategies for teaching skills included using a scrap book, playing games, involving peers, using reinforcement, practise, practical situations, modelling and concrete play.

8. Planning for generalization.

Most rural aides (71%) planned for generalization. The same general strategy was mentioned by all aides: having the parents use the same techniques as were employed in the classroom.

9. Teaching'socialization.

Over half of the ECS aides (57%) included specific strategies for enhancing socialization. These strategies included: encouraging participation in the group, having a discussion with peers regarding the handicapped child, peer modelling, reinforcing appropriate skills, time out, physical guidance, use of teachable moments, having adults model appropriate behaviour.

The comments on the handicapped child's interactions fell into two widely diverse groups: those aides who felt the handicapped child interacted well (37%), and those (63%) who described interactional difficulties such as no spontaneous interaction, prefers to play alone, and oral language very slow.

10. Frequency of behaviour problems

ECS aides (29%) reported that the handicapped child in their program displayed behaviour problems including withdrawn behaviour, passivity, despondence, short attention span and aggression.

11. Program Assessment

Methods used to measure child progress included charts, teacher assessments, the Portage, and formal assessments. Frequency of assessment varied widely from daily to yearly depending on the nature of tool and purpose of assessment.

12. Parental Involvement

Most of ECS aides (71%) met with parents of special needs children once a month or more frequently. Only one rural program had meetings for parents of special needs children (on a once a year basis). Half the aides felt parents were involved in the program. Types of involvement included: visiting, volunteering, and carrying out a home program. Aides felt parents needed most help with home programming and ideas for language activities.

Summary - ECS Staff

In summary, the responses of ECS teachers to many of the areas sampled relating to the integration process were varied and idiosyncratic. Some important patterns did emerge, however, and will be highlighted here. Most teachers in both urban and rural groups felt positively about the integration process because of benefits that accrued to the handicapped child, the nonhandicapped children, and the adults (teachers and parents) involved in the integrated program.

Similarly teachers in both urban and rural groups agreed on the inadequacy of their training for this type of experience. Less than one third(6/18) of the teachers in both groups felt their training had prepared them adequately for integration.

A third important trend was that although no clear pattern of materials, programs or teaching strategies emerged for either group, both groups included specific strategies for enhancing generalization and socialization skills.

A major difference between the 2 groups existed in the presence and use of special needs aides. Only 18% urban ECS programs had special needs aides, whereas 100% of the rural ECS programs had special needs aides.

All rural programs planned individualized programs for their handicapped students and in 80% of them one to one instruction was provided by the aide. Only half of urban programs planned individualized programs for their special needs students and urban programs employed the large group instructional format more frequently than rural programs.

The responses of the ECS aides were consistent with the responses of the ECS teachers. Two differences emerged which

are worthy of note: aides tended to see the handicapped children as exhibiting behaviour problems less often than the teachers (29% compared with 52%) and aides had more frequent parent contact (half of the teachers met with parents once a month or less whereas 72% of aides met with parents more frequently than once a month.)

Day Care Teacher's

Eighteen day care teachers responded in all, thirteen from urban programs and five from rural programs. As in the previous section Table 18 provides a summary of the day care teachers responses to each questionnaire item.

Two problems arose with the day care teachers' responses that were not present in the ECS sample. The first was the apparent differences in role responsibilities and staff organization in the different centres. Unlike the ECS programs where the teacher had the primary responsibility for program planning and implementation, in day care the responsibility is shared between different individuals such as the director, supervisor and day care assistant. These administrative differences contributed to a much less consistent picture for the day care responses compared with the ECS responses. The second problem was the small number, of rural day care programs in our sample. Five respondents is too small to make any statements which could be considered representative of rural day care teachers in general:

TABLE 18

DAY CARE TEACHER QUESTIONNAIRE RESULTS

	Urban		Rural	
	Yes	No/NoR*	Yes	No/NoR*
Consultation Prior to Enrolment	85%	15%	20%	80%
Positive Teacher Attitude Towards Handicapped Child	92%	8%	80%	20%
Use of Aides in Classrooms for 1 - 1 Instruction	77%	33%	<u>'-</u>	
Teacher Training for Integration was Adequate	69%	31%	60%	40%
Individualized Programs Prepared for Handicapped Child	69%	31%	80%	20%
Restrictions for Handicapped Child from Total Program Involvement	8%	92%	20%	80%
Planning for Student Generalization				
Teaching the Handicapped Child Socialization Skills				
Handicapped Child Exhibited Behaviour Problems		54%		100%
Use of Student Observations and Assessments				

no/no response.

1. Reasons for Integration.

The urban teachers gave numerous reasons for including handicapped children within their programs. These included enhanced social skills for both handicapped and nonhandicapped children, giving the handicapped child the chance to be with, gain acceptance from, and observe normal peers, giving the normal children a greater understanding of similarities and differences, and allowing the handicapped child to more realistically and clearly define his self image.

The rural teachers' responses were similar to those described by their urban counterparts. Teachers also pointed out problem areas with integration such as unprepared staff, a need for increased patience and understanding, not enough programs willing to accept children with handicaps, and the possibility that the other children may be envious of the attention given to the handicapped child.

2. Criteria for successful integration.

Criteria used by day care staff to measure successful integration included improved social skills, whether the handicapped child seemed happy, and the reaction of the other children, that is, if it appeared to be a positive experience for all concerned.

3. Consultation prior to enrolment.

In the rural sample, only 20% of the teachers were consulted prior to placement, however, 3 children preceded teachers into the program. In the urban sample, 85% of teachers were consulted with the range of prior notice varying from a matter of days to two months.

4. Teacher attitudes.

Most rural day care teachers (80%) found having a handicapped child in their room enjoyable because they found it interesting and challenging, and they enjoyed watching the handicapped child's progress. Almost all urban teachers (92%) enjoyed having the handicapped child in their room. A more diverse number of responses were given by this group including they felt it helped them understand the handicapped better and that they had changed their attitudes towards handicapped people, the nonhandicapped children learned acceptance of handicapped individuals early in their lives, the handicapped child progressed through exposure to peer models, and having a handicapped child in the program added a new dimension to play.

The use of aides.

Aides in rural programs were used primarily to set up and carry out specialized programming for the handicapped child. They were also used to fill in when the regular teacher was away, and to assist with

difficult behaviour. In the urban sample, 77% of aides were involved in meeting the needs of the handicapped child through one to one instruction. Other uses of aides' time included attending meetings, informing other staff of the handicapped child's needs, behaviour modification, integration into regular classroom activities, particularly at busy times such as meals and craft activities.

6. Teacher preparation for integration.

In the rural sample, the level of teacher training varied widely. One respondent had no training with regard to handicapped children, while another teacher had a special education degree. Many urban teachers (61%) had early childhood diplomas (these were usually from 2 year community college programs). The primary sources of continuing education for day care teachers included university and college courses and general (unspecified) inservices.

Some rural teachers (40%) and urban teachers (31%) were dissatisfied with their training. They felt they needed more input in terms of the types of handicaps, program methods and parent involvement.

7. Individualized Program Preparation

Most rural teachers (80%) indicated that individualized programs were provided for the special needs child. These programs were planned and implemented by the special needs aide in 100% of cases. Similarly

69% of urban teachers stated that individualized programs were provided for the special needs child. However in the urban sample, only 23% of the teachers indicated the program was planned and implemented by the same person. For example, 31% of the teachers stated that program planning was done by a specialized outside agency (for example, the Children's Hospital), while program implementation was carried out by the aide.

Support services for program development in the rural areas included speech therapists, parents, and the daycare director. In the urban sample, support services included the Children's Hospital mobile team, child care staff, parents, special needs aides, day care directors, and various allied professionals such as occupational therapists and speech therapists.

8. Goals.

Goals, materials and activities were described in the following ways. In the rural sample, goals included better use of hands and increased social interaction. Materials included flash cards, shapes, tape recorder, large crayons, and bliss symbols. Special activities included speech 'therapy', cutting and eye pointing.

In the rural sample, goals included better social interaction, intellectual development, increased confidence, speech, concept development, preparation for kindergarten, and fine and gross motor skills. Special materials mentioned were puzzles, balance board, and

bean bags. Special activities included tracing, cutting, dot to dot, copying block designs, sequencing, stencil drawing, bead stringing, catching a ball and spending time with peers.

Program Restrictions.

Rural day care teachers indicated that the handicapped child spent 50% of their time in one to one instruction and 50% of their time in the regular classroom. In contrast, the urban teachers reported that the handicapped child spent anywhere between 0-10% of their in individualized instruction and 90%-100% of their time in the regular program. In three urban programs the children received individual therapy from professionals outside the day care on a part-time basis.

No specific teaching strategies were described by rural teachers. Urban teachers used techniques such as the presentation of stories, pictures, crafts, play and music all relating to the same theme, circle time, peer modelling and physical guidance. Adapting regular classroom activities to meet the needs of the handicapped child was also mentioned.

11. Planning for generalization.

In the rural sample, no specific techniques were identified, although the general approach described was to have the parents work with the children at home. In the urban sample, strategies mentioned included practising in classroom activities what the children were learning during one to one instruction (for example, during play or circle time). As well, by maintaining close communication, parents and teachers attempted to develop the same skills and concepts by teaching in the same way.

12. Teaching Socialization.

No specific strategies for enhancing socialization were given by rural teachers. In the urban sample, strategies included having peers work with the handicapped child in the one to one situation, reinforcing appropriate socialization, and placing the handicapped child with a nonhandicapped partner for games and at snack time.

Several teachers in the rural sample alluded to socialization as a problem for the handicapped child. One teacher mentioned that the handicapped child related better to one or two children than to the entire group, while another teacher mentioned the handicapped child related better to older children because they treated them as a younger playmate rather than as a peer.

13. Frequency of behaviour problems.

No behavioural problems were mentioned by rural teachers, while aggressiveness, withdrawn behaviour, and temper tantrums were mentioned by urban teachers (46%).

14. Program Assessment.

In the rural programs, measuring progress was typically done by an outside agency. Similarly, some urban programs also used outside agency assessments, while others mentioned specific tools such as the Portage Guide, and Services for the Handicapped forms as ways of measuring progress. The frequency with which progress measures were taken varied widely from daily (on-going in the classroom) to every six months (in the rural sample).

45. Parental Involvement

There was no consistent pattern of contact between day care teachers and parents among either rural or urban staff. Contact Varied from daily to rarely (met once). Manner of contact also varied from face to face, and telephone conversation to written communication (use of communication book). Group meetings for parents of . handicapped children were held by one urban day care program.

Parent involvement in the program usually took the form of volunteering in the classroom or visiting the program. Other ways parents were involved included carrying out a home program, bringing in materials and

ideas, and using the "communication book".

Day care feachers felt parents needed help in two major areas; seeing progress in their child and support and assistance in dealing with a handicapped child.

Other specific areas of assistance included speech, physiotherapy, social skills and behaviour change.

Day Care Aides

There were twelve respondents in all, five in the rural sample, and seven in the urban sample.

1. Reasons for integration

Rural aides thought integration was desirable because it provided handicapped children with nonhandicapped peer models and allowed them to feel part of the group. They also felt that peers learn tolerance by the interaction with handicapped children provided by integration. The learning of tolerance and acceptance by the nonhandicapped child was the most frequent reasons urban aides gave for integration. Other reasons included benefits to the handicapped child such as stimulation provided by peers, enhanced self esteem, learning of daily living skills and the opportunity to play and learn like normal children.

Difficulties arose in the integration process when staff were poorly trained or too few in number.

Additional difficulties included inadequate physical

space, support systems, preparation time, and disruptive behaviour exhibited by the handicapped child.

2. Criteria for successful integration.

Three broad criteria were used by rural aides to assess integration: can the child function in the program (for example, play with peers), has the child made any progress and can the child go on to attend a regular school program? Similar criteria were used by urban aides: does the child display appropriate behaviour, can the child interact with peers, has progress been made in developmental areas such as cognition and motor skills, and can the child function independently in the classroom?

3. Aide preparation for integration.

Preservice training for both urban and rural aides was extremely diverse. Training varied from post secondary work in nursing, social work, rehabilitation, and education to no post secondary education but previous related work experience, or some combination of both. Inservice training was also varied and idiosyncratic. One source mentioned in both samples was the University of Lethbridge correspondence course.

Most rural aides (80%) felt they were adequately trained for their positions. Only 29% of urban aides however, were satisfied with their preparation. They felt they needed more knowledge of resources, materials, and types of handicapping conditions. Urban aides also

felt orientation sessions, time with handicapped child prior to enrolment, and more on-going consultation was necessary.

Individualized program preparation.

All rural aides indicated that individual programs were prepared for the handicapped child. These were prepared by the aide in consultation with other Staff or outside agencies. Many urban aides (71%) stated that individual programs were planned for the handicapped child. These were done either by the aide alone or in consultation with various other professionals. Most rural (80%) and urban (86%) aides stated that programs were planned and implemented by the aide. Resources for program planning and development included other staff in day care, special consultants, and parents.

5. Goals.

Aides' responses (or lack of them) to this question suggested they had little idea how to define specific goals for the handicapped child or how to achieve these goals. Goals listed by rural aides included preparation for kindergarten and greater independence.

Urban aides described the following as goals: bringing child's functioning to age level, better communication and cognitive skills, better memory, and social and emotional maturity. No specific materials or program activities were identified by either group.

6. Program Restrictions

In the rural group 50% of the aides felt the handicapped child was restricted from total involvement in the regular program. Restricted activities were either outside activities or gross motor activities.

None of the urban aides felt their handicapped child, were restricted from regular program.

7. Specific Teaching Strategies.

The handicapped children spent from 0% to 50% of their time in one to one instruction, with most spending less than 20%. Techniques used to teach basic concepts and skills included repetition, task analysis and backward chaining, levels of prompting, presenting same skill in a variety of ways, generalizing from one to one to outside environment. listening, role playing, and observing. No specific materials were described although general activities included games, rhythm exercises, singing, copying, and play.

8. Planning for generalization.

About half of the aides (58%) described specific plans for generalization including sending materials or suggestions home for practise, extending skills being learned in one to one to the group setting, and communicating program goals to the entire child care staff.

9. Teaching socialization.

Three fourths of aides (both rural and urban) planned specifically to enhance socialization. Most techniques consisted of aide intervention techniques such as talking to the handicapped child if problems occur, have the handicapped child help staff, including the child in regular games and activities (both group and one to one) partnering the handicapped child with nonhandicapped children or including nonhandicapped children in one to one sessions, and placing handicapped child in activities that require a natural situation. Comments on socialization varied, but most aides indicated this was an area of difficulty for the handicapped child.

10. Frequency of behaviour problems.

The majority of aides (67%) reported that the handicapted child in their program displayed behaviour problems including a gression (mentioned by 5 of 8 positive respondents) frustration, mondiness receiving and temper tentrums

11. Program Assessment.

A variety of trols are used to measure the handicapped child's progress. Most often mentioned was the Portage and checklists (six times for each). Other tools included formal assessment, daily logs, goal oriented charting, the Vulpe, and outside agency assessment. Frequency of assessments varied widely.

12. Parental Involvement

Contact between aides and parents varied widely from daily to as needed or never. Some aides also differentiated between formal and informal meetings with parents as the frequency of each type differed.

Day care aides reported an absence of group meetings for parents of special needs children.

Many aides (75%) felt parents were involved in their programs. Type of involvement included home programming, visiting and observing in centre, and providing communication between home and school. Aides felt parents needed most help with home programming support and assurance. Other areas of assistance included future placement plans, basic hygiene, letting the child be independent, goal setting, and providing feedback regarding their child's progress.

Summary - Day Care Staff

Despite a greater total number of respondents(aides and teachers) in the day care sample (30) compared with 28 in the ECS sample, the responses of the day care group were fever in number and less detailed.

with the exception of urban aides, day care staff were generally more satisfied than ECS staff with the adequacy of their training for the integration experience. Responses within the day care group, that is, from aides and teachers, were quite consistent.

Aides were more likely than teachers to see the handicapped children as exhibiting behaviour problems. Similarly rural aides spent more of their time in one to one instruction with the handicapped child than urban aides. One major difference between the ECS and the day care groups was the involvement of outside agencies. In the day care group, programs for the special needs children were more likely to be planned, implemented and/or evaluated by an outside agency than they were in the ECS group.

Parent Involvement and Satisfaction with Program

This information is part of the data collected during the parental interviews. All parents in both day care and ECS groups felt their child enjoyed the program they were attending. Tables 19 and 20 present a summary of these data. Most parents based their judgment on their child's behaviour, stating that they enjoyed attending the program, or at least were not reluctant to attend. Parents reported that their child's attendance in an integrated setting affected their functioning outside of the program in many ways. Some parents felt their children did not see themselves as different as a result of being in an integrated setting, that it was a normalizing experience for them. The most common response was that placement in an integrated setting enhanced their child's socialization skills. Other areas of enhanced functioning included increased language, greater independence, and improved behaviour. Parents also mentioned enhanced self esteem as a

TABLE 19

PARENTAL SATISFACTION

•		E.C.	Day Care		
e the second of	t	Rural (n=12)	<u>Urban</u> (n=15)	Rural (n=11)	Urban (n=21)
Adequate communication with other parents	Yes	83%	60%	50%	40%
	No	17%	40%	50%	60%
Could school be more helpful	Yes	8%	36%	36%	24%
	No	92%	64%	64%	76%
Specific goals not being met	Yes	8%	7%	18%	10%
	ИО	92%	91%	82%	90%
Support services adequate	Yes	67 %	73%	64%	68%
	No.	33%	27%	36%	32%

PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT

Care		E.C.S.		Day Care	
and the second s	₩ ₩.5	Rural	<u>Urban</u> : -	Rural	Urban
Familiarity with program	Yes	92%	87%	91%	859
	, No	8%	13%	9%	1.59
/isit program	Yes No	100% 0%	93% 7%	64% 34%	7D9 309
Is program adequately designed	Yes	83%	100%	- 64%	719
	No	17%	0%	36%	299
Aware of individual goals	Yes	84%	80%	64%	75
	No	14%	20%	34%	25
Involved in goal setting	Yes	80%	40%	33%	. 47
	No	20%	60%	67%	53
Home suggestions provided	Yes	42%	53%	44%	50%
	No	58%*	47%*	66%*	, 50%
Teachers responsive to parents suggestions	Yes	91%	90%	55%	- 67
	No	9%		45%	33
Adequate communication with teacher	Yes	100%	100%	91%	95
	No			.9%	5

many of these parents received program suggestions from alternative programs, or did not feel a need for such suggestions.

result of integration.

The majority of parents in both day care and ECS groups felt they were familiar with the overall program at their child's school or centre. A high proportion of ECS, and a slightly smaller proportion of day care parents visited their child's program on a regular basis. The frequency of visits ranged from daily to once a year and two thirds of the parents visited the program every 4 months or less. Parents felt the individual programs designed for their children were adequate, although a higher proportion of ECS parents expressed satisfaction with their child's program. The following difficulties were expressed by day care parents: the day care had too much unstructured time, the child needed more instruction and direct supervision, and the aide should expect more of the child.

The majority of parents were aware of individual objectives that had been established for their child and could give specific illustrations. With the exception of the rural ECS group, a much smaller proportion of parents reported they were directly involved in the establishment of individual program goals.

About half of the parents in each group stated that they received techniques, ideas or materials to use at home. With those parents who did not receive suggestions, however, many indicated that this was by choice. Frequently they were already receiving suggestions from a different, more specialized source, or they did not feel they needed input

from the program regarding home activities.

Most parents in the ECS sample (90%) felt their child's teacher was responsive to their suggestions. Only 67% of urban day care and 55% of rural day care parents, however, felt teachers were responsive to their suggestions. Sources of dissatisfaction centered around behaviour management and the amount of time and effort spent on the child's program.

parents were very positive about the amount of communication they had with their child's teacher. Several parents mentioned the use of a daily communication book and made comments such as "always available, impressed with the amount of time spent with us, and we have good rapport."

At least 40% of parents in the urban ECS, urban day care and rural day care groups felt they would like more contact with other parents. A large number of parents expressed a desire for informal sharing meetings and having the opportunity to talk over and gain support from other parents. Many parents indicated they already were involved in parent groups relating to their child's handicap.

Specific ways that programs could be more helpful included: greater availability of speech therapy within the program, better transportation system, smaller groups, help with future school placement, more communication with other parents and more and better trained staff.

Few parents (18%) had objectives for their child which were not being met. Unmet objectives were generally of two kinds: more emphasis on academic skills was needed or more

structure and discipline was needed in the program.

Approximately 30% of parents felt current community support services were inadequate. Major concerns included the following: long waiting periods for specialized services, particularly speech therapy, services lacked co-ordination, professionals particularly physicians, lacked necessary attitudinal and personal skills to deal effectively with parents, there was a need for temporary relief and homemaker services, more parent groups were needed and program staff were inadequately trained.

J. Summary

An attempt will be made to summarize and highlight some of the more important findings presented in the preceding pages.

In regard to the nature of children currently being integrated in Alberta preschools, it appears that demographically they and their families are no different from the general population with regard to statistics such as family size, income, parental education, and occupation. Diagnostically these children are predominantly mildly to moderately mentally handicapped, with some children demonstrating sensory, physical or multiple handicaps.

Normative assessments using the McCarthy confirmed that the majority of children were mildly to moderately delayed, although the urban ECS children were significantly higher functioning. The Criterion Referenced Assessment device

identified the following deficiences for the group as a whole: advanced and primary pre-academic skills, advanced motor skills, expressive language skills, and self help skills.

The interaction patterns of the handicapped children in these settings are consistent with other research findings (Guralnick, 1981): lower functioning children interact less and demonstrate more unsophisticated play than their higher functioning peers (handicapped and nonhandicapped). Further, there was little evidence of imitative behavior occurring between the handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Somewhat unique in this study was the high level of verbal interaction demonstrated by the handicapped children.

The results from the S.A.A.T. also substantiated other researcher's findings(Dunlop, 1980; Asher et al, 1979; Guralnick 1981): finding a suitable instrument for collecting reliable attitudinal data is extremely difficult for children of this age. The S.A.A.T. was easily and quickly administered, but without norms it was not particularly useful. It was designed and would seem more appropriate for use in a repeated measures design.

Programming characteristics were diverse, however, some common elements should be emphasized. For example, the number of nonhandicapped children far exceeded the number of handicapped children in each setting. The staff all felt positively toward integration, but many felt their training was inadequate, particularly ECS teachers, 70% of whom felt

their training needed improvement. It appeared that individual programs were planned more often in rural than in urban programs and, although the planners varied, it was generally true that day care programs received more assistance from outside agencies than ECS programs. In addition, special needs aides were more prevalent in day care programs and they usually implemented one to one instruction programs. Most programs included some general plans for enhancing the children's socialization and generalization skills. Also staff identified these children as displaying a disproportionately high number of behavior problems.

Parents were involved in their children's programs in a variety of different ways, but generally speaking they were very satisfied with their child's placement in an integrated setting. Approximately 40% of the parents interviewed felt they would like more contact with other parents in the form of informal sharing meetings. In programs with aides, the aides tended to have more frequent contact with parents than teachers.

IV. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This study examined four important aspects of early educational integration within the context of Alberta preschools. The information collected allows us to make some observations and recommendations about each of these aspects as they relate to the implementation of integration and directions for future research in this area. These observations and recommendations will be presented under the four broad dimensions of integration that have been used throughout this study.

The handicapped child and his family

First, there was almost uniform agreement among parents of the handicapped children that integration was a positive experience for the children being served. Parents were happy and felt well informed about the individual programs their children were receiving. We did not collectinformation, however, on the effects of integration on the normally developing children and this remains an important area for future research.

Another area of difficulty is the vastly different types of children currently being identified for special assistance through the current funding structures.

Particularly under the ECS, Category A designation, where the children identified varied from demonstrating severe mental and/or physical handicaps with an accompanying number of extensive educational needs, to mildly handicapped children requiring little or no extra assistance within the

classroom. A more standardized approach is needed to identify those children in greatest need of services than currently exists. These criteria, however, need to be flexible enough to meet the special regional needs which exist throughout the province.

discrepancy between children being served in urban ECS versus rural ECS programs. This may be attributable to the existence of more specialized programs in urban centres although this remains to be proven. It is obvious, however that rural programs require additional support services and thus funding formulas should be adjusted accordingly. Further, it was not clear how extra funds were being used to provide special services in the urban ECS programs. Indeed there was great confusion within these programs as to what funds were available and how they could be accessed. This was obviously an area requiring clarification and clearer guidelines.

It was quite clear from the interviews with the parents and teaching staff of rural programs that additional specialists are required to provide outreach help to rural programs integrating children with special needs. Almost all staff indicated the need for specialist consultation with such professionals as speech therapists, physiotherapists, and child development specialists. Additional services could be made available to rural areas such as providing outreach teams from the major centres in the province or establishing

regional assessment centres. In this way more immediate consultation can be provided to integrated day care and kindergarten programs regarding the unusual conditions a child may exhibit.

Interaction patterns: handicapped children, peers and teachers

Our study found what other researchers have found: physical integration of handicapped children in regular programs does not necessarily lead to increased interaction between the two groups of children. Although disappointing our results were not unexpected, and point to the need for continued research in this area. Further, the information available from existant research must be translated into specific teaching strategies if it is to be useful to program personnel. There must be greatek cooperation between research centers such as Universities and educational programs in testing new instructional strategies. Perhaps we should make use of the concept of "demonstration programs", whereby certain programs could be funded to develop, try out, and disseminate new approaches in educational practise. Within the day care context, several of the Community College Early Childhood training programs already have demonstration day care centres that are readily suited to this role. ECS programs could be identified within the community to work in conjunction with University teacher training programs in the same way. Perhaps these centers could serve as clearing houses for specialized curriculum

materials, assessment devices and so forth needed for integrated programming. These will be described later in this chapter.

Nonhandicapped peers: attitudes

The current study did not allow the pronouncement of any very specific or definitive comments with regard to this aspect of integration. It is obvious that more creative and longitudinal research is needed to examine the impact of integration on the attitudinal development of the nonhandicapped children. As well, work is needed to develop more appropriate and useful tools for measuring attitude development and change in young children. The S.A.A.T. may have some potential in this regard particularly if some adaptations were made to the current instrument. Such adaptations might include the addition of specific questions regarding the nonhandicapped child's knowledge of the term handicapped.

Program characteristics

It is in this last area that the majority of observations and recommendations will be made.

Staff responses to the questionnaires revealed a lack of organizational structure and unclear role definitions with regard to the planning and implementation of the handicapped child's individual program. In some day cares/ECS's individual programs were planned and implemented by the same individual, either the aide or the teacher, but in many programs plans were made by one or a group of

individuals and implemented by someone else, usually the aide. It seems that one person should be designated as the case manager or person responsible for insuring that a program is planned and implemented for the special needs child. The classroom teacher or the day care supervisor seems most appropriate for this position as they age responsible for planning the total program for the entire group of children. Having the handicapped child's program planned by different people than the rest of the group fosters segregation and seperation within the class. Further, the teacher/supervisor is usually the most highly trained individual in the program, and theoretically best equipped to handle the difficult job of designing an individual program for the child with special needs.

One of the large urban boards provided an example of this approach. Handicapped children in this system were grouped and placed with a specially trained early childhood - special education teacher. An aide was provided in these classrooms, but was used by the teacher to free her to place and implement appropriate programs for the special needs children. This approach might insure that a larger number of handicapped children are placed within one program. Thus avoiding the negative outcomes associated with placing only one handicapped child in a program that are suggested in the literature.

The maximizing the integration experience was also apparent from

the staff's responses to the questionnaires. The existence of an organized approach to educational goals is an integral part of any learning experience. This becomes even more critical in integrated programs where there is a wide range of individual differences among children and the lack of standard curricula or materials.

It would seem very important, therefore, that a program planning process, such as the individual educational plan concept(IEP), be established to assist in the development of the handicapped students' program in the integrated setting.

This process should include an actual IEP outline, an assessment of the child's strength and weaknesses, the establishment of long-term and short-term objectives based on their strengths and weaknesses, the provision of specific intervention processes to develop competencies and an evaluative process to determine if the child is making satisfactory progress towards these objectives. This planning process should be flexible enough to meet the varying needs of children in integrated settings throughout Alberta. This planning process should be a major element of any pre-or inservice program.

Many staff(two/thirds in the case of ECS teachers) working in integrated programs felt inadequately trained and prepared for integration. Inservice and preservice education must be made available. As previously indicated universities and colleges will have to come to terms with the merging roles of special and general education. Special education

courses should be included within each teacher's educational program. In addition, inservice and staff development modules should be provided in order to up-grade field staff competencies. Skills and knowledge in individual program planning and each of its components as described above, as well as in the other dimensions of integrating handicapped children into preschool programs should be included in such modules. These experiences should be made available to staff at optimum times and locations so that all persons functioning as aides or teachers in day care or ECS programs could develop the special skills needed in an integrated setting.

Related to the training issue, is the lack of consistent curriculum and instructional materials available to programs integrating handicapped children that was reflected by staff's responses to the questionnaires. Some way of collecting these materials in several centralized locations is needed. As well, a method whereby materials can be quickly and easily accessed by programs needing them should be developed. These materials should be available to both ECS and day care programs.

The lack of training for most personnel involved in this field combined with the absence of specific program requirements necessitates the establishment of an on-going formative evaluative process to assist programs in determining if they are meeting the needs of the handicapped children integrated into their programs. Perhaps this

evaluative process could be tied into the funding procedures for special needs children.

This evaluative process would also be able to assess, in part, the impact of staff development and preservice training programs for persons working in this field. As well issues such as appropriateness of programs for particular children and later school placement could be addressed. The inclusion of consumer evaluation would also be an important dimension within such an on-going evaluative process.

In conclusion, it would seem that integration at the preschool level is here to stay. This current study examined four dimensions of integration and made some recommendations for improving the current service delivery system. Important areas for future research were also identified. Of major importance in the effort to improve current services will be the willingness of various professionals, government officials, and program operators to work together in the development of quality integrated programs that would assist in maximizing the potential of the handicapped child.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abeson, A. & Zettel, J. The end of the quiet revolution: the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975.

 Exceptional Children, 1977, 44, 2, 114-128.
- Allen, K.E. Mainstreaming: what have we learned? Young Children, 1980, 35, 5, 54-63.
- Allen, V.L. (Ed.) Children as teachers; theories and research on tutoring. New York: Academic Press, 1976.
- Angrist, S.S. & Borke, H. An observational system for the evaluation of preschool programs. In <u>Urban Education</u>, 1974, <u>IX</u>, 283-298.
- Arnold, W. & Tremblay, A. Interaction of deaf and hearing preschool children. <u>Journal of Communication Disorders</u>, 1979, 12, 245#251.
- Asher, S.R., Singleton, L.C., Tinsley, B.R., & Hymel, S. A reliable sociometric measure for preschool children.

 Developmental Psychology, 1979, 15, 443-444.
- Ballard, M., Corman, L., Gottlieb, J. & Kaufman, M.J.

 Improving the social status of mainstreamed retarded children. <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, 1977, 69, 605-611.
- Barney, W.D. Preschool education for physically and intellectually handicapped children. <u>Australian Journal</u> of Early Childhood, 1977, 2, 3, 22-25.
- Barros, S. Life in the fast lane: the case for integration of the preschool handicapped child. <u>Elements:</u>

- Translative Theory into Practice, 1979, 10, 6, 7-9.
- Berger, E., Hillyard, A. & Kozak, S. Social Acceptability

 Apperception Test Manual. Unpublished document, Earl

 Berger Limited, May, 1979.

įλ

- Birch, J.W. <u>Mainstreaming: educable mentally retarded</u>

 <u>children in regular classes</u>. Minneapolis, Minn.:

 Leadership Training Institute/Special Education,

 University of Minnesota, 1974.
- Blacher-Dixon, J. & Turnbull, A.P. Preschool mainstreaming:

 definitions, rationale and implementation. Education

 <u>Unlimited</u>, 1979, <u>1</u>, 16-22.
 - Blacher-Dixon, J. & others. Mainstreaming at the early childhood level: current and future perspectives. Mental Retardation, 1981, 19, 5, 233-241.
 - Blumberg, L. The case for integrated schooling. The

 Exceptional Parent, 1973, 3, 4, 14-17.
 - Boehm, A.E. & Weinberg, R.A. <u>The classroom observer</u>. New York: Teachers College Press, 1977.
- Braun, S.J. & Lasher, M.G. Can programs for special needs preschoolers thrive in public schools? Behavioral

 Disorders, 1978, 3, 3, 160-167.
- Brenton, M. Mainstreaming the handicapped. <u>Today's</u>
 <u>Education</u>. 1974, <u>63</u>, 2, 20-25.
- Bricker, D. A rationale for the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped school children. In M.J. Guralnick, (Ed.) Early Intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Baltimore:

- University Park Press, 1978.
- Bricker, D. & Sandall, S. Mainstreaming in preschool programs: how and why to do it. <u>Education Unlimited</u>.

 1979, 1, 3, 25-29.
- Bronfembrenner, U. Towards an experimental ecology of human development. American Psychologist, 1977, 32, 513-531.
- Budoff, M. & Gottlieb, J. Special class EMR children mainstreamed: a study of an aptitude (learning potential) x treatment interaction American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1976, 81, 1-11.
- Calhoun, J.A. & Collins, R.C. From one decade to another: a positive view of early childhood programs. Theory Into Practice, 1981, 20, 2, 135-140.
- Campbell, D.T. & Stanley, J.C. Experimental and

 quasi-experienced designs for research. Chicago: Rand

 McNally College Publishing Co., 1963.
- Carlberg, C. & Kavale, K. The efficacy of special vs regular class placement for exceptional children. <u>Journal of Special Education</u>, 1980, <u>14</u>, 3, 295-311.
- Carlson, N. & others. Teacher perceptions of time requirements for integrating young handicapped children.

 <u>Exceptional Child</u>, 1981, <u>28</u>, 2, 119-127.
- Cavallaro, S.A. & Porter, R.H. Peer preferences of at-risk and normally developing children in preschool mainstream classrooms. American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1980, 84, 357-366.
- Childs, R.E. Perceptions of mainstreaming by regular

- classroom teachers who teach educable mentally retarded students in the public schools. Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded. 1981, 16, 3, 325-327.
- Cohen, S., Semmes, M. & Guralnick, M.J. Public Law 94-142 and the education of preschool handicapped children.

 Exceptional Children, 1979, 45, 4, 279-285
- Cooke, T.P., Apolloni, T. & Cooke, S.A. Normal preschool children as behavioral models for retarded peers.

 Exceptional Children, 1977, 43, 531-532.
- Cooke, T.P., Ruskus, J.A., Peck, C.A. & Apolloni, T. A comparative evaluation of the outcomes of integrated and segregated preschool arrangements. Comparing change scores: can the nonhandicapped child keep up? Santa Rosa, Calif., Human Services Associates, 1979.
- Corman, L., & Gottlieb, J. Mainstreaming mentally retarded children: A review of research. In N. Ellis (Ed.)

 International review of research in mental retardation (Vol. 9), New York: Academic Press, 1978.
- Crisci, P.E. Competencies for mainstreaming: problems and issues. Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded, 1981, 16, 3, 175-182.
- Davies, J. & Hunt, A. Physiotherapy in ordinary schools.

 Special Education: Forward Trends, 1980, 7, 1, 29-31.
- Deno, E.N. (Ed.) <u>Instructional Alternatives for Exceptional</u>

 <u>Children</u>. Arlington, Virginia: The Council for

 Exceptional Children, 1973.
- Donaldson, J. Changing attitudes toward handicapped persons:

- a review and analysis of research. Exceptional Children, 1980, 46, 7, 504-514.
- Dickerson, M.G. & Davis, M.D. The developmental approach: A successful way to mainstream the young child. Childhood Education, 1981, 58, A1, 8-13.
- Dunlop, K.H., Stoneman, Z. & Cantrell, M.L. Social interaction of exceptional and other children in a mainstreamed preschool classroom. <u>Exceptional Children</u>, 1980, 47, 2, 132-141.
- Dunn, L.M. Special education for the mildy retarded is much of it justifiable? Exceptional Children, 1968, 35, 1, 5-22.
- Edwards, E. & Montemurro, T. The behavior of preschool handicapped children and their interaction with model children. Paper presented at the CEC Convention, April 1979.
- Evaluation of the process of mainstreaming handicapped children into project head start, phase II, final report. Silver Spring, MD. Applied Management Sciences,
- Feitelson, D., Weintraub, S. & Michaeli, O Social interaction in heterogeneous preschools. Child Development, 1972, 43, 1249-1259.
- Fink, W.T. & Sandall, S.R. One to one vs group academic instruction with handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children. Mental Retardation, 1978, 16, 236-240.

- Flynn, R.J. & Nitsch, K.E. <u>Normalization</u>, <u>Social Integration</u>

 and <u>Community Services</u>. Baltimore: University Park

 Press, 1980.
- Frank, M. (Ed.) Mainstreaming: Part 2. Children in Contemporary Society, 1978, 11.
- socially withdrawn preschool children through mixed as and same-age socialization. Child Development, 1979, 915-922.
- Galloway, C. & Chandler, P. The marriage of special and generic early education services. M.J. Guralnick (Ed.)

 Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Baltimore, Md.: University Park Press, 1978.
- Garwood, S., Dubase, R.F., Morr, A.A., Neisworth, J.T.

 (Eds.) Mainstreaming a challenge for the 1980's.

 Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 1981, 1.
- Gerber, P.J. Awareness of handicapping conditions and sociometric status in an integrated preschool setting.

 Mental Retardation, 1977, 15, (3), 24-25.
- Giangreco, C.J. and Giangreco, M.R. Reverse mainstreaming: a different approach. American Annals of the Deaf, 1980; 125, 4, 491-494.
- Glance, K.M. An instrument to describe the peer interactions of preschool retarded children in a free play setting,
 Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta,
 1979.

- Glaser, R. Components of a psychology of instruction:
 towards a science of design. Review of Educational
 Research, 1976, 46, 1-24.
- Goldman, J.A. The social participation of preschool children in same age vs mixed age groupings. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin, 1976.
- Goodman, H., Gottlieb, J. and Harrison, R.H. Social acceptance of EMR's integrated into a non-graded elementary school. Mental Deficiency, 1972, 76, 3, 412-417.
- Goosen, J. The effects of a normal peer model on verbal production of descriptive adjectives by handicapped children. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Kansas, 1977.
- Gottlieb, J. Attitudes toward retarded children: effects of labelling and academic performance. American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1974, 79, 269-273.
- mentally retarded persons. In M.J. Begab and S.A.

 Richardson (Eds.) The mentally retarded and society: a

 social science perspective. Baltimore: University Park

 Press, 1975.
- Gottlieb, J. & Budoff, M. Social acceptability of retarded children in nongraded schools differing in architecture.

 American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1973, 78, 1, 15-19.
- Gottman, J.M. & Ringland, J.T. The analysis of dominance and

- bidirectionality in social development. Child Development, 1981, 52, 393-412.
- Gozali, J. Perception of the EMR special class by former students. Mental Retardation, 1972, 10, 1, 34-35.
- Gresham, F.M. Social skills training with handicapped children: a review. Review of Educational Research, 1981, 51, 1, 139-176.
- Guralnick, M.J. The value of integrating handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 1976, 46(2), 236-244.
- Guralnick, M.J. The efficacy of integrating handicapped children in early education settings: research implications. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 1981, 1 (1), 57-71.
- Guralnick, M.J. <u>Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children</u>. Baltimore:

 University Park Press, 1978.
- Guralnick, M.J. Integrated preschools as educational and therapeutic environments: concepts, design and analysis.

 In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children.

 Baltimore: University Park Press, 1978.
- Guralnick, M.J. Promoting social interactions among children at different developmental levels: processes and problems. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Council for Exceptional Children, Kansas City, 1928.

 Guralnick, M.J. Social interactions among preschool

- children. Exceptional *Children, 1980, 46, 248-253.
- Guralnick, M.J. The social behavior of preschool children at different developmental levels; effects of group composition. <u>Journal of Experimental Child Psychology</u>, 1981, 31, 1, 155-130.
- Guralnick, M.J. Peer influences on the development of communicative competence. In P. Strain (Ed.), The utilization of classroom peers as behavior change agents. New York: Plenum Press, 1981.
- Guralnick, M.J. & Paul-Brown, D. The nature of verbal interactions among handicapped and nonhandicapped preschool children. Child Development, 1977, 48, 254-260.
- Guralnick, M.J. & Paul Brown, D. Functional and discourse analyses of nonhandicapped preschool children's speech to handicapped children. American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1980, 84, 444-454.
- Hein, R.D. & Bishop, M. Bibliography on mainstreaming, Vol.

 1 & 2. New York: National Technical Institute for the

 Deaf, 1978.
- Haring, N.G. & Krug, D.A. Placement in regular programs:

 procedures and results. Exceptional Children, 1075, 41,
 413-417.
- P.H. Mussen (Ed.) <u>Carmichael's manual of child</u>

 psychology (Vol.2). New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1970.

 Hartup, W.W. Beer interaction and the behavioral development

- of the individual child. In E. Schopler & R.J. Reichler (Eds.) <u>Psychopathology and child development: research</u>
 and <u>treatment</u>. New York: Plenum Press, 1976.
- Hawkins, R.P., Fremouw, W.J., Reitz, A.L. A model for use in designing or describing evaluations of mental health or educational intervention programs. Behavioral Assessment, 1981, 3, 307-324.
- Hodgson, G. & Mulkerne, S. A regular preschool program for Robbie. Education Unlimited, 1980, 2, 2, 40 41.
- Howard, A.E. Viewpoint: putting humpty dumpty together again? mainstreaming in early childhood. Young Children . 1977, 33, 1, 14-15.
- Hobbs N., Egerton, J. & Matheny, M.H. Classifying children:
 a summary of the final report of the project on
 classification of exceptional children Children
 Today May-June: 1975.
- Wighes, S.L., Cordray, D.S. & Spiker, V.A. Combining Trocco with impact evaluation: In P.F. Conner (Ed.)

 Methodological advances in evaluation research. Proceedings of the Proceedings
- Nalker, V.S. Sociometric status of children in an integrateive program. Exceptional Children, 1971, 40, 267-271.
- Tosa, J. & Matz, R.D. Integrating handicapped preschool children within a cognitively oriented program. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration

- of handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1978.
- Taffre, T.R. Attitudes of adolescents toward the mentally retarded. A.J.M.D. 1966, 70, 907-912.
- handicapped children in the regular grades A.J.M.D.

 1950, 55, 60-89
- a paradox Exceptional Children, 1962, 29, 2, 62 '
- Exceptional Children, 1972, 38, 553-564.
- mainstreaming. Viewpoints in Teaching and Learning.
- children with the Molarthy scales. New York: Grant & Stratton Inc., 197
 - edy, P., Partagott, W., Pocaulty; R. & Williams, 14

 Longitudinal monion in a dic oper sectional ditaion

 mainstream in the and in the period

 1976, 79(2), 11 01
- their, N.Y. Disabled children need for care to , Education Unlimited. Table 3(1), as Eq.
- Study Journal, 1900 10, 2, 107 118
- Ryr la, G.M., Berger, E. and Morman, C.A. The Resources for the Dependent Honelination Study. Alberta

- Social Services, Services for the Handicapped, Edmonton Region, 1981.
- Lapp, E.R. A study of the social adjustment of slow-learning children who were assigned part-time to regular classes.

 American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1957, 62, 254-262.
- Tandlois, L.H. & Downs, C.A. Peer relations as a function of physical attractiveness: the eye of the beholder or behavioral reality? Child Development, 1979, 50, 409-418.
- Inrsen, S.C. The influence of teacher expectations on the school performance of exceptional children. Focus on Exceptional Children, 1975, 6(8), 1-14.
- Kong. B.C. Journal of Special Education, 1981, 5(2),
- Exceptional Parent, 1979, 9(4). E7-9.
- rejected purils. Exceptional Children, 1980, 46.
- status, low achieving students. Exceptional Children,
- Inetje, C. What's so 'special' about handicapped preschoolers? Instructor, 1979, 89(5), 82-84.
- MacMillan, D.L., Jones, R.L. & Aloia, G.F. The mentally

- retarded label: atheoretical analysis and review of research. American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1974, 79, 241-261.
- MacMillan, D.L., & Semmel, M.I. Evaluation of mainstreaming programs. Focus on Exceptional Children, 1977, 9, 1-14.
- Martin, E.W. Some thoughts on mainstreaming. Exceptional Children, 1974, 41, 3, 150, 153.
- McCarthy, D. The McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities.

 New York: The Psychological Corp., 1972.
- Miller, T.L. & Sabatino, D.A. An evaluation of the teacher consultant model as an approach to mainstreaming.

 Exceptional Children, 1978, 45, 2, 86-91.
- Meisels, S.J. First steps in mainstreaming. Young Children, 1977, 33, 1, 4-13.
- Menolascino, F.J., & McGill, J.J. The psychological rights of the child and handicapped conditions. Viewpoints in Teaching and Learning, 1982, 58(1), 87-98.
- Morgan, D. & York, M.E. Ideas for mainstreaming young children. Young Children, 1981, 36, (2), 18-25.
- Morris, L.L. & Fitz-Gibbon, C.T. Evaluator's handbook.

 Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, Inc., 1978.
- Morris, L.L., & Fitz-Gibbon, C.T. How to design a program evaluation. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, Inc., 1978.
- Mueller, E. (Toddlers & toys)=(An autonomous social system).

 in M. Lewis & L.A. Rosenblum (Eds.), The child and its

 family. New York: Plenum Press, 1979.

- Neisworth, J.T., & Madle, R.A. Normalized day care: a philosophy and approach to integrating exceptional and normal children. Child Care Quarterly, 1975, 4, 163-171.
- Nordquist, V.M. A behavioral approach to the analysis of peer interactions. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), Early intervention and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1978.
- Northcott, W.H. Integrating the preprimary hearing imparied child: an examination of the process, product and rationale. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.) <u>Early intervention</u> and the integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped children. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1978.
- Novak, M.A., Olley, J.G., & Kearney, D.S. Social skills of children with special needs in integrated and separate preschools. In T.M. Field, S. Goldberg, D. Stern, and A.M. Sostek (Eds.) high risk infants and children: adult and peer interactions. New York: Academic Press, 1980,
- Pain, K. Reverse Mainstreaming: an overview and proposal.
 Unpublished document, July 1982.
- Parten, M.B. Social participation among preschool children.

 <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology</u>, 1932, 27,

 243-269.
- Pastor, D.L. & Swap, S.M. An ecological study of emotionally disturbed preschoolers in special and regular classes.

 Exceptional Chidlren, 1978, 45(3), 213-215.
- Peterson, G. Factors related to the attitudes of nonretarded

- children toward their EMR peers. American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1975. 79, 412-416.
- Peterson, N.L. & Haralick, J.G. Integration of handicapped and nonhandicapped preschoolers: an analysis of play behaviors and social interaction. Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded, 1977, 12, 235-245.
- Peterson, C., Peterson, J., & Scriver, G. Peer imitation by nonhandicapped and handicapped preschoolers. Exceptional Children, 1977, Jan., 223-224.
- Petriwsky, A. Integrating handicapped preschool children.

 <u>Australian Journal of Early Childhood</u>, 1977, 2(3),

 20-21.
- Pflaster, G. A second analysis of factors related to the academic performance of hearing-impaired children in the mainstream. The Volta Review, 1981, Feb.-March, 71-80.
- Platt, N. & Cook, N. Celebrating the similarities: an experience in mainstreaming preschoolers. <u>Pointer</u>, 1976, 20(3), 6-10.
- Porter, R., Ramsey, B., Tremblay, A., Jaccobs, M. & Crawley, S. Social interactions in heterogeneous groups of retarded and normally developing children: an observational study. In G. Sakett (Ed.), Observing behavior: theory and applications in mental retardation.

 Baltimore: University Park Press, 1978.
- Rapier, J., Adelson, R., Carey, R., and Croke, K. Changes in children's attitudes towards the physically handicapped.

 <u>Exceptional Children</u>, 1972, 39, 219-22.

- Raver, S.A. Preschool integration: experiences from the classroom. <u>Teaching Exceptional Children</u>, 1979, 2(1), 22-26.
- Raver, S.A. Ten rules for success in preschool mainstreaming. Education Unlimited, 1980, 2, 47-52.
- Raver, S.A., Cooke, T.P. & Apolloni, T. Developing nonretarded toddlers as verbal models for retarded classmates. Child Study Journal, 1978, 8, 1-8.
- Reese-Dukes, J.L. and Stokes, E.H. Social acceptance of elementary educable mentally retarded pupiles in the regular classroom. Education and Training of the Mentally Retarded, 1978, 13, 356-361.
- Reynolds, M.C. Framework for considering some issues in special education. Exceptional Children, 1982, 48, 367-370.
- Richardson, S.A. Attitudes and behavior toward the physically handicapped. In Bergsma, D. & Pulver, A.E. (Eds.), <u>Developmental disabilities: psychological and social implications.</u> New York: Alan R. Liss, Inc., 1976.
- Rister, A. Deaf children in mainstream education. Volta.

 Review, 1975, 77, 5, 279=290.
- Rogers-Warren, A. & Warren, S. Mands for verbalization: facilitating the display of newly trained language in children. Behavior Modification, 1980, 14, 3, 361-382.
- Roopnarine, J. & Lamb, M. Peer and parent-child interaction before and after enrolment in nursery school. <u>Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology</u>, 1980, 1, 77-81.

- Rossi, P.H., Freeman, H.E. & Wright, S.R. <u>Evaluation: a</u>

 <u>systematic approach</u>. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications,
 Inc., 1979.
- Rubin, K.H. Play behaviors of young children. Young Children, 1977, Sept. 16-24.
- Russo, D.C. and Koegel, K.L. A method for integrating an autistic child into a normal pubic school classroom.

 Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 1977, 10, 579-89.
 - Rutman, L. Formative research and program evaluability. In Leonard Rutman (Ed.) Evaluation research methods: a basic guide. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, 1977.
 - Sarason, S.B. & Doris, J. Educational handicap, public policy and social history: a broadened perspective on mental retardation. New York: The Free Press, 1979.
 - Saur, R.E., Layne, C.A., & Hurley, E.A. <u>Naturalistic reseach</u>
 on <u>mainstreaming at the National Technical Institute for</u>
 the <u>Deaf</u>. Paper Series No. 43. Rochester: Rochester
 Institute of Technology, National Institute for the
 Deaf., 1981.
 - Schiefelbusch, R.L. Advances in school and classroom

 learning. In L.A. Hamerlynck (Ed.), Behavioral systems

 for the developmentally disabled: I, school and family
 environments. New York: Brunner/Mazel, 1979.
 - Schurr, K.T., Towne, R.D., and Joiner, L.M. Trends in self concept of ability over two years of special class placement. <u>Journal of Special Education</u>, 1972, <u>6</u>, 161-166.

Schultz, L.R. Educating the special needs student in the

- regular classroom. Exceptional Children, 1982, 48, 4.
- Siegel, S. Nonparametric statistics for the behavioral sciences. Toronto: McGraw Hill Book Co., 1956.
- Sigler, G., Makee, W., and Lazar, A. Children's attitudes toward handicapped students as a result of mainstreamed settings. Mental Retardation Bulletin, 1978, 6, 2, 92-97.
- Simon, E.P. & Gillman, A.E. Mainstreaming visually handicapped preschoolers. Exceptional Children, 1979, 45, 6, 463-364.
- Simpson, R. Modifying attitudes of regular class students toward the handicapped. Focus on Exceptional Children, 1980, 13, 1-11.
- Sinson, J.C. & Wetherick, N.E. The behavior of children with Down's Syndrome is normal playgroups. <u>Journal of Mental Deficiency Research</u>, 1981, <u>25</u>, **2**, 113-120.
- Siperstein, G.N. & Gottlieb, J. Physical stigmatic and academic performance as factors affecting children's first impressions of handicapped peers. American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1977,81,5, 455-462.
- Spear, D. Head Start: a positive approach to serving handicapped children. Reading Improvement, 1980, 17, 2, 149-152.
- Stainback, W. & Stainback, S. A review of research on interactions between severely handicapped and non-handicapped students. TASH Journal, 1981, 6, 23-29.
- Strain, P.S. An experimental analysis of peer social

- initiations on the behavior of withdrawn preschool children: some training and generalization effects.

 Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 1977, 5, 445-455.
- Strain, P.S. & Fox, J.J. Peers social initiation and the modification of social withdrawal; a review and future perspective. <u>Journal of Pediatric Psychology</u>, 1981, 6, 417-433.
- Strain, P.S. & Timm, M.A. An experimental analysis of social interaction between a behaviorally disordered child and her classroom peers. <u>Journal of Applied Behavior</u>

 Analysis, 1974, 7(4), 583-590.
- Thomas, E.D. & Marshall, M.J. Clinical evaluation and coordination of services: an ecological model. In Exceptional Children, 1977, Sept. 16-22.
- Turnbull, A.P. & Blacher-Dixon, J. Preschool mainstreaming:

 impact on parents. In J.J. Gallagher (Ed.), New

 directions for exceptional children: the ecology of

 exceptional children. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc.,
 1980.
- Turnbull, A.P. & Schultz, J. Mainstreaming handicapped students: a guide for the classroom teacher. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 1979.
- Turnbull, A.P., Strickland, B.B. & Brantley, J.C. <u>Developing</u>

 and <u>implementing individual education programs</u>. Toronto:

 Charles E. Merrill, 1978.
- Van Der Kooij, R. A study of the play behavior of retarded children. <u>International Journal of Rehabilitation</u>

- . Research, 1978, 1, 329-341.
- Voeltz, L.M. Children's attitudes towards handicapped peers.

 American Journal of Mental Deficiency, 1980, 84, 5,

 455-464.
- Vincent, L.J., Salisbury, C., Walter, G., Brown, P.,
 Bruenewald, L.J. & Powers, M. Program evaluation and
 curriculum development in early childhood/special
 education. In W. Sailor, B. Wilcox, & L. Brown (Eds.)

 Methods of instruction for severely handicapped
 students. Baltimore: Brooks Publishing, 1980.
- Wahler, R.G., Child-child interactions in free-field settings: some experimental analyses. <u>Journal of Experimental Child Psychology</u>, 1967, 5, 278-293.
- Wasson, D. Modeling in integrated preschools. Mental Retardation Bulletin, 1980, 8, 2, 67-80.
- Wehman, P. Instructional strategies for improving to play skills of severely handicapped children. AAESPH Review, 1979, 4(2), 125-135.
- Weisberg, H.A. Statistical adjustments and uncontrolled studies. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 1979, 86, 1149-1164.
- White, B.N. Mainstreaming in grade school and preschool: how the child with special needs interacts with peers. In T.M. Field, S. Goldberg, D. Stern, & A.M. Sostek (Eds.), High risk infants and children: adult and peer interactions. New York: Academic Press, 1980. White, O., Edgar, E. & Haring, N.G. Uniform Performance Assessment System. Seattle: College of Education, Experimental

Education Unit, Child Development and Mental Retardation Centre, University of Washington, 1978.

- Widerstrom, A. Mainstreaming handicapped preschoolers:
 should we or shouldn't we? Childhood Education,
 1982,58,3, 172-177.
- Wiebe, R. & Watkins, L. Factor analysis of the McCarthy scales. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1980, 18, 154-162.
- Wilton, K. & Densem, P. Social interaction of intellectually handicapped children in integrated and segregated preschools. Exceptional Child, 1977, 24, 3, 165-172.
- Wolfensberger, W. The principle of normalization in human services. Toronto: National Institute on Mental Retardation, 1972.

Appendix A

SURVEY OF EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN INTEGRATED INTO DAY CARE PROGRAMS

Program Information	
NAME OF PROGRAM:	
LOCATION: (City or Town)	Rural Urban Population
(City of Town) TOTAL ENROLLMENT IN PROGRAM:	NUMBER OF EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN
Child Information	
Identification (Please code by number	
Male Female Birthdate	(Region) (Child)
Date of most recent assessment	
Agency responsible for most recent	assessment
	Part time Length of time in program (Months)
Indicate area or areas of exception	ality, including eeverity
Speech and/or language	Hearing
Health (Medical)	Social-Emotional Behavior
Vision /	Physical or motor performance
Environmental or cultural factor	Intellectual
Academic achievement	Other
Completed by	Position:

Appendix B

A STATE OF THE PROPERTY OF THE

E.C.S. -at 2 years noticed language delay, at 5 years of age after many hearing tests, an EEG showed seizure activity; -as an infant, never opened left hand, paediatrician said nothing wrong; changed doctors, child was referred at once; -noticed language delay at two years, told "not to worry"; -infant ill from birth, told "all in your head", 1 1/2 years later diagnosis made; -I know something was wrong, told "nothing serious" months later undiagnosed bladder infection resulted in damage to the optical nerve; -at three, noticed speech delay, doctor said "would outgrow

it", subsequent testing diagnosed speech problem.

Day Care - at 3 1/2 had seen many doctors with no diagnosis, referred to ENT specialist who recommended ear surgery, child is now - at 1 1/2 years noticed delay, told general practitioner but not until one year later was child assessed and confirmed with developmental delay; - delay noticed by grandmother at one year, physician said "wait", at 19 months diagnosis made; - since birth parents concerned, and "bugging the doctor" finally when not walking at 18 months testing done; - at one year child delayed, but nothing done until onset of seizures 1 1/2 years later; - at 4-5 months not sitting; told he would "come arrand". Bt in more the began with an early information program

rrelation Matrix

March Marc						Ŗ	graphic	emographic Variables,		Behavi	ours and	Play A	All Behaviours and Play Activities					<u> </u>			
1,204 1,20	age Pro	ł .	erb faft.	Terb receipt peer 32	H/8 init. peer B7	M/8 receipt peer A8	, ·		Pos. H reinf i i teach c	f/8 Init. r teach B17	M/g eceipt teach big	Verb init h.p.	Verb receipt b.p.		Soc.			Para11			Indiv P ₇
1,100 1,10	-	- 213						*	.254		1			768.		-				222	.269
136 271 2.46 211 213 215 2.13 215 2.13 2.14 215 2.15 2.14 215 2.15 2.17 215 2.15 2.17 215 2.17 215 2.17 215 2.17 215 2.17 215 2.17 215 215 2.17 215	180			2096		ア					-	.2312						3297	-	.4918	
- 134		- ·	352.	.271		,			221	' ·- 	213					259			314		
- 27		<u>}</u>		.749	.439	219		. 293		<u> </u>				,	-	†	23	.3515	712.		2232
37 311 326 <td></td> <td> </td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>.267</td> <td>999</td> <td></td> <td>687</td> <td></td> <td>'</td> <td>139</td> <td>i .</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>946</td> <td>.233</td> <td>.3814</td> <td></td> <td>772</td> <td></td>					.267	999		687		'	139	i .				946	.233	.3814		772	
224206 .225 .206 .227226 .207 .207 .207 .207 .207 .207 .207 .207						15.					·			,		270	.233	.349			
									-							208		.226			
. 23				-				416		17.				.224			.232	226			.515
. 296 . 368 . 368 . 368 . 368 . 369 . 481 292 292 283	2								957		509			.523			-		. 302		.748
. 256	5	,			···					i	.207				-		256	•••			.2086.
. 368	7										7.98						+	-			241
368													,								.493
.203													. 368						.2164	.238	
481		-					† !											ļ. ·	.203		9
481	-																				3884
481											_		 				-				
481			† 1		 						ļ		†		1		 		↓ ·—-	.193	
		- - -	† [† '	<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>	ļ -					-				-	
4 386																	-			-	268
																	•				220
			·- 	į	į	į	!	+		4	į			, t		.					
												•		. 386					• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		